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CANADA 

IN THE ~ATTER OF A CO::\1MIS'3IO~ appointing the HONOURABLE 
HARRISON ANDREW McKEOW~, a Commi~~ioner to enquire into 
and report upon affair,- of the HO:\IE BANK OF CANADA. 

I 

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE PETITIOX uf the DPpositor:;, in the said 
HOME BANK OF CANADA. 

Br.fore the Honourable Chief Ju;-;ticc l\IcKeown, the above named Royal 
Commii,~ioner, at Ottawa, on Thursday, the 15th day of May, 1924. 

Counsel: 

EuGENE LAFLErn, K.C., AND H.J. SYMINGTON, K.C., 
for the Govurnmcnt of thu Dominion of Canada. 

R. J. McLA1,GELIN, K.C., A. G. BnowND:c., KC., AND W. T. Jt LEE, 
for the Depositors. 

McGREGOR YocNd, KC., for the Attorn,,y (;oilral of Ontario.' 

R. A. REID, for certain shan holders ( opposing the double liability.) 

Sm THOMAS WHITE, KC., appraring on h;~ own behalf. 

Mr. LFE: l\Jy lord, I think there was some fa],-.e impresf';ion gained by the 
local press here yesterday in reference to some remar~;:s whieh your lordP-hip addressed in amwer to a sugge,:tion made by me regarding the amount which would be required to pay the drpo~itor:5 one hundred cents on C1e dollar. 

I dei::ire to bring that to your lordship's attent;on. I do not think that your lordship intei!dr.d what w ... :s contained in the local press which, apparently, would fead to the belief that your lurd;;hip was taking a view of this case before any decis:on is rendered in it. I ju~t draw it to your lordship's attention. Probably your lorcship has not seen the local press in regard to it. 
His LORDSHIP: Oh, yes, I saw what was there. The report whirh was in the paper did not convey the meaning I had in my mind at all. I was di,:cu~s­ing, as you will remember, the two ways in which the calculation might be made, that is to say the idea of getting all that could be got out of the bank and then seeing what the balance would be which the Government, under the peti­

tion, might be asked to assume. You, or Mr. McLauirhlin, or both of you, put forward the idea that the Government might put up the wholr deficiency and take over what I think you yourself termed "the wreckage of the bank.'' It wa:; rather as, between the two methods that I expressed the opinion, and I certainly did not intend to leave the impression contained in the report in the local press. 
Mr. LEE: I understood your lord!lhip perfectly well, but apparently the reporters of the Citizen and J oumal did not get your lordship's purport or what your lordship said, correctly, so I thought it was my duty to draw it to your lordship's attention. 
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Hi,,, LORDSHIP: It k1-i a•·<·11mpli:-hcd the purpose, I think. I have just been 
hHnded the official report, and it he:.irs out what you say, Mr. Lee, and ('Orrectly 
rpports what all of us !"aid. It wa-; furtlwE-t from my intentiL,n to sugge-ot any 

cour:-e that the (,overnmcnt might take. 
::\Ir. LEE: I quite under:-tood that, my lord. 

Argumt;nt by R. J. McLnnghlin, K.C., rc~wncd. 

:'.\fr. McLArGHLIN: l\Iy lord, at the ad.iournmrnt h::::t night I had just 
covered the corre'-'pomlence of Sir T!10mas White, and the quc.-,tion submitted 

to your lord-;hip i~: \\ hat was dune by the Finance ".\-Iinifter or the Department 
a:-; the n•,-ult of the n:pre,-;f'ntation;:; that were made? 

The re,ult \\at' that nothing ,v.·1..; clc,ne under the Bank Act. No inspection, 

or audit, w:1-; obtainrd under Se1•tion 56.\.. The rea-::onR given for thut were 11r. 
Cremr's kttPr, and I have di>'t u~,cd that, to E-ome extent, how l\fr. Crf•rur c,tood 
by the prineiple of an independent audit until that meeting in Ut,tawa which is 
reported in the let.tc-r of the 23rd of ::\larch, where ".\ks~n-. Haney and Lash 
:--ccured from him the lettPr in qur.,tion. I have dwelt on that to some extent, 
l\lr. Crerar being the Pre,:idcnt of the Gnin ( ,rowers' Company which company 
had a thou,and share." of ::-to1·k, and he being a lar~e shareholder him;:;elf. ::\Ir. 
Ha:1ey wit11 his great ine;Pnuity, and havin~ ~ul'rerded in persuading Mr. La~h, 
contrary to his own opmion, that an independent audiL ~hould not be made, 
impm-+ed the idea upon Mr. Crerar that an indPprndent audit would bring 
about a run upon the bank, and a failure which would be di--astrous to the share­
holdrrs and which would make them m,pomible for their double liability. Quite 
unconsriom,ly, his prrsonal intem-;t being so great, they prevailed upon Mr. 
Crerar to write that letter. 

I can imagine the ;.;hivns that ran up Mr. Crerar's spine ·when Mr. Hanry 
and Mr. Lash pre,-,rd upon him the view: Now, you urge an independent audit, 
an independent audit will bring about the immediate failure of the bank und 
what will become of the thousand ,,Ji;Jr(:,- of the Grain Growers' Company, and 
your own? ' 

We must also recognize that, at that time, eight years ago, Mr. Crerar was 
a comparatively youn!!: business man, and he was taken into camp by Mr. Haney 
who was. a very much older and more experienced man, especially in iniquity, 
and Mr. Lash whose great reputation and great personality was, no doubt, over­
powering. 

The very fact of that letter being obtainrd, and being presented the way it 

was, would have impressed still further the idea that fraud was at the hark of 
it. It was something that should have weighed upon the mind of the Minister 
in an absolutely different way. 

Then the E-econd excu,:e that the Minister gives is m,sociated with the first, 
that is, that an indPpendent audit would have caused a run upon the bank. 

Mr. Lash, in his letter of the 4th of March, says his experience shows that, 
while in his letter of the 29th of February he had refused to agree to Mr. Haney's 

sug!!:estion to the <:ame effect. No possible experience could have arisen between 
times, and no possible experience has been quoted to your lordr-,hip, and no pos­
sible experience of that kind exist;:;. There is no record in the history of banking 
in this country, or any other country, where an independent audit caused a run 
upon the bank. Runs upon banks are not so easily caused. 

Sir ':r'homas White gave an instance that occurred recently. He said a 
mere whisper, a mere word, had c:.msed a run on the Dominion Bank. That 

run was not the rc:iult of a mere whisper, or a word, but it was caused by the 
fact that the public confidence jn banking in,;;titutions in this country, from one 
end to the other, had been shaken to its very foundation by the disclosures in 
connection with the Home Bank, and the Merchants Bank, but especially the 
Home Bank. 
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Up to that time, rnn-; were not so ea-,ily brought about upon bankf;. ,ve all 
know that in the caf;e of the 1\/frrdiant" Bank there were rumours about the 
great losse.,; to the l\1errhant" Banks for monthf; before it was taken over. 
There wa-, no run. We kn"w that in the case of the Banque Xationale for a year 
and a half, or two years, thne were rumours all .through the country that the 
bank bar! enormou:-; lost<es. It cau:,ed no run. We know that in tlw Home Bank 
itself, if an out,ide audit would have caused a run, surely the employees of the 
bank would have known somcthinu; about the enormous amount in this bank 
that was lockrd up in the Fro.,t account and in tlH' PellaH account, and would 
not whispers of the state of the bank itself haYe far more effect in bringing about 
a run upon the bank than a whi:-per uf an ind!:'pendent audit? 

The fact that an independent auJ,t would have c·rn~Pd a run on the bank 
has not been supported by any evidence worthy of any con.:-ideration at all. No 
banker has been brought hrre to -,tate, and no bankrr could be brought here 
to state, that an audit or examination could not be madr by the Bankers' Asso­
ciation, or by an officer appointed by them, without causing a run, while we 
have ::\fr. Machaffie, an ex1wrie•1eed hanker, who explained how simply it could 
have been done during the Easter holidays without anybody knowing anything 
about it, the Easter holidays coming in then, and what a comparatively short 
and supnficial investigation \';ould have been required to ;,how the real condition 
of this bank. I 

We also h:n-e l\Ir. Edward:,; to the --ame effcrt, and we have Sir Henry 
Drayton, while parrot-like he repeated the words from i::,1r Thomas White's 
published statement, that an independf'nt audit would have mused a run on the 
bank, incidentally, a few moments later, he said, I had a man in the Banque 
Nationale for a long time and knew e,-erything that w:1-; being done, and yet it 
caused no run. ~ 

That, I think, is the lamest of all possible excuses. 
Then the first reason that has been urged, is his confidence in Mr. Haney. 

There is no reason alleged a~ to what the foundation uf that confidence was. 
He made no effort to look up the record of Mr. Haney, while.in his own Depart­
ment there was the report of the late l\1r. Jui-,ti(·e Clute giving this man's record 
in connection with the Crow's :!\est Pa~,-, Railway which would, if it had been 
turrif'd up, ha Ye entirely satisfied the Mini~tl·r as to the amount of confidence 
that could be reposed in that quarter. 

As a result of these things no investigation was made. An investigation 
under Section 56A was ju.:itified, as Sir Thoma,; White him~elf said; in his evid­
ence on pages 345-6, 349 and 362 he empha::-izes it, says it was ju:,tified and that 
he intendrd to have it. But the inw:,tigation he int1·mkd to have in the first 
in-,tarn·e was not an investigation at all, it wa::; :qicrely a c-omparativcly u:oele::;J 
report from the bank's own auditor. If it had been a case where there were 
no charge,; of fraud, but merely further explanations required, a report from 
the bank's own auditor might have been all right, but where there were charges 
which ,vent to the credibility of the auditor himself and to the propriety of the 
statements that had been ,wnt into the Govnnment and signed by that auditor, 
nothing could be more worthless than such a report. The inve,-tigation required 
here was a thorough inYestigation, such as Mr. Lash said could only be made 
by an independent party who would be absolutely free from any influences. of 
the management of the bank. That ought to have been clear to the Minister, 
that no half way, no pretended inve::,tigation would be of any use. I do not 
know that l ought to quote philosophy, but there is a little bit of philosophy 
that even a Cabinet Minister ought to know. I remember an old plantation 
song the chorus of which was: • 

" Half way <loin's ain't no 'count 
For this world or the next." 
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I think that applies to a half way inYestiµ,ation, and I think any man ,:hould 
have seen the folly of such a pretended inve~tigation as was in the first plai;c 
suggested to Sir Thomas White. Later on he came to a different cone lusion 
anrl believed investigation should be by a man appointed by the Banker::i' A,;so­
ciation, and that seems the wise thing to do, because they are the people mm:t 
anxious to prevent a run on the bank, the people mo:5t concerned for the credit 
of the country's banking institution,-:, Had he stuck firmly to that notwith­
standing Mr. Haney's sugge«tion"' and notwith1-Ltncling the lettn that Mr. F'isher 
wrote to Mr. Lash in which he reported what Mr. Haney said, and notwith­
standing Mr. La::Jh's letter of 1\brch 4th when he urged an iniside investigation, 
had Sir Thomas ~tuck firmly t-0 his ground right down to the final interview at 
Ottawa reported in the letter of ~farch 23rd when he was led to change his 
opinion through the influence of Mr. Lash and Mr. Haney personally present 
with him, this disaster would have been prevented. It never occurred to him 
before-and if there had been anything in it it would have occurred to him­
that an outside investigation would be dangerous in any way. 

That disposes of the repre,-:n1tutions made in 1916. ~ow we ('ome to the 
fiaf'co of 1918 where Mr. Madrnffie wrote to the MinistPr :.nd the Minister took 
no further st.eps than merely to ask Mr. Hanry for information. It was apparett 
to the Mini,-tt'r at that time that all the undrrtakings they had given to him 
in 1916 had been broken. Nom' of thl·m had been fulfilled. The promise to 
have an irn,idc audit and insprction, full and complete, by Mr. J\fachaffie under 
the authority of Mr. Haney was not kept, and no report was ever received. The 
promise that the affairs of the bank ,:hould bP man:• ged by Mr. Haney and th.:i 
Western Directors was not kept. The promil-'l' that intrre;:t on the Fro:,.t and 
New Orleans account-, w9uld not be t uken into profits was not kept. But for 
two years inten;st on the Fru,:;t account and all the other frozen assetc; was 
t11ken into profits; if it had not b<'t'n th<' bank would have had no profits and 
could have paid no dividend. 

So that in 1918 the Minister fully understood how utterly unreliable the 
assurances and promises of Mr. Haney were, and whatever ~hadow of an excuse 
there might have been in 1916, there wa-1 none in 1918 for placing further con­
fidence in these people. 

Therefore I submit tl1at th1; anrncr tu tlwse questions would be that the 
representations fully justifiPd an audit under ~cction 56A, and no rnch audit 
was obtained. 

The effect of such an audit woulv have been to show the true condition ot 
the bank. Both Mr. Clarkson, Mr. Edwards and l\Ir. ::\Iachaffie say that an 
independent audit in 1916 would have revc!llcd the true state of the bank's 
affairs; Sir Thomas White ori page 366-7 said an independent auditor would 
probably have learned the truth. In answer to l\Ir. Laflcur's question (368) he 
goes on to say that an independent audit "·a,:; right and would have di::;covered 
the facts. Mr. Edwards (514), Mr. J\bdnffie (403-4). When the que,-tion 
was put to Sir Thomas White by ::\Ir. Lafleur about an in-;ide audit bt·ing falla­
cious he said that the Home Bank affair had ,:hown that such wm, the case, but 
that it was not known up to that tirm'. Durely the hii-tory of the world is long 
enough and the experience of cent.uric., ought to be sufficient to show that 
independt'nce was ab,:olutely neces--ary in an investigation of thi,, nature. It 
w~s not nf'ccc;sary for the Home Bank tragedy to occur to prove that inde­
pendence was required in such a cm:e. Humanity i-, suppm,ed to differ from 
the lower orders of creation in the fact that experience can be handed on frotn 
one generation to another. The experif'nce of the past was quite sufficient to 
establish this. It does not require that ev.ery horse be stolen before the wisdom 
of locking the ::;table door is understood. As far back as the time of Bacon it 
was understood that the wise man is he who lf'arns from the experience of others. 
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There are several other things stated by Sir Thomas White which I might 
refer to. For instance he says; (374) the bank was not shown to be insolvent 
therefore I was not bound to act. If the bank had been shown to him to be 
insolvent the time for an investigator or auditor would have been past. The 
day for the Curator or Liquidator would have arrived. 'Gnder Section 56A 
it is not necessary that a bank be shown to be •im,olvent before the Minister 
:;hould have it investigated, but only that such circumstances be shown as 
rai:;e doubt and suspicion as to the bank's integrity. He also says (352) that 
public knowledge that three time::; the capital was locked up in four accounts 
would have caused a run on tre bank. Mr. Crerar testified to the same effect. 
( 455) . Is a bank to be allowed to go on doing ibu;:;iness and taking money 
from the public when,farts are knowfl to the Department of Finance and the 
Government, the tru:;tees of the people, that if known to the people would 
show them that their depo<Sit-, in that bank were not safe? ,In the recent dis­
cussion in the House some Members said that the people should decide them­
selves, they should judge as to what bank they will entrust their savings to. 
How can they judge if information that would enable tlwm to do so is deliber­
ately kept from th<'m by the public ~ervants? 

Now as to the question of the state of the bank in 1916, the review of that 
evidence I am going to kave to my colleagues; but Mr. Edwards (507 and 513) 
shows that the bank in 1916 had suffered a diminution of its a:;:;ets to the 
extent of $3,370,000 which was equivaient to the loss of its whole capital and 
ref'erve and somewhere about $1,000,000 of the depositors money, which he 
~aid left the bank in a position to pay out of it . ., own asset:; about 94 or 95 
cents on the dollar to the depositors, and leave the double liability in addi­
tion. lf 50 cents on the dollar were realized on the double liability it would 
p~y thr depositors in full. Mr. Clarkson (274-5) speaks to the same effect. 

As to the state of the bank at the time of failure in 1923 we have the 
evidence of both Mr. Edwards and Mr. Clarkson. While I think that with 
regard to the state of the bank in 19_16 Mr. Edwards evidence is more reliable, 
becau-,e he ha-, given special attention to finding that out, which Mr. Clarkson 
has not, of course the evidence of either of these gentlemen is entirely reliable 
from the point of view of creditability, the only que$tion is as to the oppor­
tunity for investigation which each man has had; so the state of the bank at 
the time of failure and what it would realize is better known by Mr. Clarkson 
than anyone else beceause for some nine months now he has been endeavouring 
to realize on the assets and get.ting all pos~ible information and must have a 
great deal of material at his disposal in addition to what Mr. Edwards would 
have. So I say that the evidence of Mr. Clarkson is thoroughly reliable in 
respect to what the lm:se-s of tle bank will be, and he stated that it has lost its 
whole capital and rr<;erve and some $9,500,000 [n addition. I am rnrry we 
r~nnot give your lord~hip details of that, but Mr. Clarkson hat:i explained that 
to give details of each account and the losses to be ,expected might have a very 
Rerious and detrimental effect on the realization, which is a result that we are 
all moc;t anxious to prevent. 

Then there is the question as to what could have bt>en done by the Gov­
ernment under the circumstances. We have the evidence of Sir Tholllas White 

' (359, 364, 365) and Sir Henry Drayton (138\ that if they had known the true 
condition of the bank thr,y could have had it taken over by another bank. 
That perhaps J?;Oes no further than an opinion from these gentlemen. But it is 
an opinion that is entitled to a great deal of weight, for , while of course the 
Government has no legal power to compel another bank to take over this bank 
and assume its LiabilitieR, the Government could have brought about a liquida­
tion, could have referred the matter to the Bankers Association, and if that 
AHociation had recommended a liquidation undoubtedly that liquidation would 
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have taken plaec, if the offirpr;-: nf f 1e b:rnk hwl refu,..eJ to liquidate all the 
Government would have had to du would be to let the public know the facts 
and the public would have Reen that the liquidation took plare. A liquid:.t­
tion at that time, an:ording to 11r. Edward,, and Mr. Clark-:on, with a rea1,on­
able recovery on the double lihuil'tty, would lrnve paid the depositors in full. 
I am leaving the evidrnce and the d1 tail,: run1·Prnine; t 1,i,; to my c·()lll'ague". 

Thm I come to the que:,,tion of war t·omlition whic-h have been referred to. 
This matter under ordinary cirrnrn;.tan('eR would bP a matt Pr of t 11e very highe8t 
importanc·c, no math r that c-ame bdore the FinanrP Minii'tcr could be of 
grer,ter importame I imag-ine than tlw rcpr<''-'l'ntations made here. Under the 
banking f'y:.:tem of thi-; ruuntry and our cmt,oms and habit., as to trade and 
rnmmerce, the bu,-inef',- of th is eountry is carried on on c-reclit, u11d the banker,; 
are the organiz-0 rs and diRtributors of that credit. The funds they rerPive art\ 
the dcpo:;it:- of the t-imple, honest, thrifty prnplP throughout the country, people 
who have littlr financ·ial knowlcdgp but who have great faith in the Govern­
ment and in the bank,;. Tliat Rimple faith of the pc0ple givPs the bank<J a 
billion and a 1i;Jf of money. Tktt money form,, the bac:is of the ere,1it, whieL 
enables al! the manufa,turef; and commercial and agricultural and mining int.er­
t>~tf< of tlie eountry to be l'arried on. It is the life blood of our indu,trial system 
and our commerce. The lark or the de:-itruetion of that c-redit, or enn its impair­
ment to thr c•xtPnt of frn, fiftf'pn or twenty per t-rnt would bring about a fin:m­
rial cri~i~ which would rr,u!t in di,::a,..tlr and bankruptcy from ea,-,t to wr,-.t. 

Tlw bank-: -are the heart ,, hi<-h guvrrns the cirrnbtion of money and 
credit throughout tl1<' ('OUntry, Anythng t!rnt dr,..troys that c-ri>dit i,-, likP 
cutting the jugular vein; it bring,-. about dPat:1 and de,-,truction, 

Now why did Sir Thoma,-. White, with all that wa-, before him. nq!kl't t,o 
have 1,n independent inn,-,tiirntion? Why did he, after 1\Iar.·h, 1916, pay no 
more [,ttention to this bank for two year,; and five months? And tl1PP wuuld 
have paid no attl·ntinu whnte,·er to it unle;:;-: he had rreeiyed a letter from Mr. 
1\foehaffilc. Why \\·a,-. it for,!;nttPn? Why was it thrown in the di,rard? 

It i:o only fair for me to give the rx-1\T;ni,tcr every oppurtunity and the· 
advantage of everything that can ari~e frum t.lic rnrrounding circum:-tanc·e~. 
At page 324 of the cvirlPrn·e, he pub in a port ion of a pub lie int.Prview that 
he had given to the pre""; -

" l'nder no cirrum,tanrr,,: would I have allowed a bank to fail during 
the period in quv--tion. I had many diffirnlt and dangrrous finaneial 
-:;ituations to deal with during the war. At it:; outbreak, in view of the 
panic whirh prevailed, the ( ~overnment, at my in>'bnce, placed iti;:rlf 
brhind the banks of Canada and gave public a:::~urant"e that it would 
loan them such sums as they might requirP to meet thr ronditions of the 
war, and would take all further ~tcps necc~.;;ary to ~afrguard the financial 
situation during its continuancr. At a later period I found it necr;.,-ary 
to make a statement in the Hou~e to allay unrest cau,-Ed by the agitation 
for the so-cal!rd con~rription of wealth, If it had appeared to me that 
the bank wa,:; not able to meet its public obligations, I ,;]10uld have taken 
steps to have it taken over by some other bank or banks, or failing that, 
would have given it nrc·e~,-;ary a,.;,c:i~bnee under the Finance A-et, 1914, 
Ruch action would, in my view, have been ju:-tifiablc in the public interc•,-t 
at that time. 

" It is not unusual for Ministers to receive complaint.-: from ex-officials 
respecting financial or othPr in-,titutions. If any l\Iini-;tcr of Finance 
since Confederation took greater pains in connection with any such com­
plaint than I did in the Home Bank c.,se, I should like to have his name 
and the particular instance drawn to my attention." 

• 

• 
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I turn then to page 359 of Sir Thoma,.; ·wliite'.., evidenC'r. Tl:c• PXamination 
was as follows:-

vVhLre he i,;ays " At that time " he means of C'ourse ,var time. 

"X ow I would usk you, if you found a bank in difficultief: if it had 
hc·Pn shown to you at that time tliat the Home Bank wn-: in -.(riouc: 
difficultie:;;, what would you have done to prevent its failurc?-A. If I had 
believed that the Home Bank at t.hal time wa,; in danger of failing. 
('losing it..-: door:", was imolvrnt, I should have gone to the Canadian 
Bankers' As.~ociation and told them to take over that bank. Either to 
one bank or more bank1,,. , 

"Q. And ,v:1at i~ your opinion as to what they would have done?­
A. I think they would have- looked into the ;;ituation tind on the ~ituation 
or anything like the ,-it.uat:on t.liat WflS bdore me, they would have clone 
it. I think I would have made them do it. 

"Q. If the bank wa,.: not too far gonr?- A. Yrs. I would have maclr 
them do it. \Vhen I s:1y that, I had 'rlo legal power, but neverthele..,.., I 
feel confident that I roulcl have got thrm to do it, bemuse it was in the 
midst of the war and if I had believed that that bank was in danger of' 
in.;olveney or a1)0ut,to <·lose it-: doors, I would L:wr "aid to thr Canadian 
Bankern' A,;soriation: 'You take over that bank.' 

"Q. If you had knmYn then what you do now, you would have donl' 
that, I ,.:uppo~e?-A. Absolutely. 

" Q. You ;;.ay: ' I had many difficult and d:rngrrou-; fina•l('ial situa­
tions to deal with during the war. At its outbn•ak, in vil'W of the panir 
which prevailed, the Government at my in:-tance placed it,elf behind 
the banks of Canada and ~ave public a~:;;uranee that it would loan them 
such .:\Urns as they might require to meet thP ronditions of the war, and 
would take all further !-Ch'p" neee::::::ary to :;;afeguard the finanl'ial situa-; 
tion during its eontinuance. At a lat.:r period, I found it nct·es-sary to 
make a statement in the Hou:,c to allav unre,:t cau:oed hy the agitation 
•or the so-C'alled conseription of wealth." If it had appeared to me that 
the bank was not able to meet ib publie obligations, I should have taken 
steps to have it taken over by some other bank or banks, or failing that, 
would have given it necr,:sary a:a,.,istancc undi r the Finanee Act, 1914. 
Such action would, in mv view, have brrn justifiable in the publie interc~t 
at that time.' That is 'on acC'ount of the war?-A. Yr,:. 

"Q. During all that period, of eourf'e, you were very bu,,y with war 
work?-A. l\ir. :McLaughlin, if you had had the load of work and re­
:-pon;;ibility that I had during that war, you would not be cro,-~-examining 
me to-day." 

That would have been a happy !"ituation. 

".Q. I don't deny that, Sir Thomas, and I don't want to m~mm1ze 
to any extent at all the very important and valuable work you d1d .. -A. 
And I don't want to emphasize it. 

" Q. The immensely valuable work you did during that time, you 
were rai:::ing war loans?-A. I certainly was. 

''Q. That was something quite new, raisil\g large loans in this 
country?-A. Decidedly so. 

'' Q. You were a pioneer in that respect?-A. I wa><. 
"Q. And I suppose I would not be going too far to say that I don't 

know how you had the time or the mind to give the attention that you 
did to this Home Bank?-A. If vou did I think it would not be an over­
statement. I was acting Prime" Minister of Canada at this1 particular 
time, and Mini,,ter of Finance. Floating loans; working about eighteen 
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hours a day; called up frpquently at niii;ht with n•gard to finanl'ial troubles 
of various kinds. I don't w:1nt to empha,-ize it, but you have a'-'kcrl. me 
the question and I am tPlling you. 

" Q. And I suppo;;e I would not be going too far to say that t hl' great 
dominating thought in your mind during all that period w~:; the war 
work?-A. I think it wa~ bv far the dominant interc--t. I would not 
say it was the £ole intere,t, b·ut the war, and the lcgi,-.latiun in the Hou~r 
of Commons, and my administrative work in the offi!'e and my ,vork out­
side, of cour,-,e ah~orbPd all my time and all my thought. 

"Q. In fact it filled every nook and cranny of your big head from 
the sub-ba::,emcnt, to the attic?-A. I aFC<;ure you it did not .seem any too 
big at that time for the job I had. However, I am not resting on that, 
Mr. McLaughlin. I claim I tj.id my duty not only in connection with the 
war but in all other respect<:. I am amazed that I found the time to du 
half what I did in this. 

"Q. I like human beings, you know, better than supermen.-A. Well, 
I am a human being and not a :--uperman. 

" Q. And a,.: human being:-- we do not expect enrybody to be infallible 
in his judgment. I make so many mi:>takc;; myself that I love others 
who do it.-A. I never thought I wa,:; infallible, but men in public life 
cannot affuril to admit that." 

Well now of cour:-:i> there i,; rnme truth in that. There i;:; an unfortunate 
thing about our political situation, that while all hi,-tory Fhows that the greatest 
of politicians make great mistake,; and many of them, yet it :,ePms to be political 
policy that a man is never to admit that he ever made a mi<,take, and that no 
doubt is the dominant thought in Sir Thom:1s White's mind when giving evidence 
in this Court. It is political trea---on for him to admit that he ever made a 
mistake. I believe poli:ieian,; would be wiser to admit their mistakes, when 
they make them, like the re:--t of humanity. 

"Q. But now that you are free from public life, as I said yc:-terday, 
the truth will :,et us free." 

That i_:, an PXprE·~,ion that Sir Thomas White had used. 

"A. I should li:we -;aid ' nobody in politic;,.' I mean that in politici:: 
one cannot afford to make admi.c:sion,;. I do not mean that in my evidence 
at the present time I have the slip;htc.;;t de,;ire to state anything except 
the ab:aolute facts. 

"Q. It would naturally have lwcn a very di~a~trou,; thing from a 
public and national point of view, to allow a bank to fail at that time?­
A. Very :;eriou:;, very grave. 

"Q. It wa,, ;,omcthing that could not be permitted, I --uppose?-A. I 
told you that if I had tlioue;ht that the hank wa:- in danger •of failing, I 
would have l1ad it hk1·n over. 

" Q. That i:,, if you had known the true farts, you would have had 
it taken over?-A. rndoubtcdlv. 

"Q. That is my point. I ~·ould like to compliment you, Sir Thoma~, 
in closing . .'' and so forth. 

Then we have your lonbhip's que"tion,; at pa).!;e 381. 

"His LORDSHIP: Just before you leave, Sir Thoma,,, perhaps; you 
may help me in one thing which is in my mind. It will probably be arp;ued 
before me, and I may be a-;ked to express an opinion upon it as to how far 
the fact that we were at war, at the time of this tram-action, operated in 
your mind in coming to a conclusion as to what would be the be:;t thing to 
do. 
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One can readily see that a cour:c-e which would naturally occur to an 
executive oflil'rr of the Finance Department in times when peace existed 
would be a very hazardous and improper action at a time when the whole 
thing was in. the melting pot and anything may happen. 

~ow, how far, if at all, did that enter into your mind in corning to a 
conclusion? There is some evidenc~ ubout it, and I thought that if you 

\ had anything more to :-ay on that point I would be very glad to hear it. 
Sir THOMAS WHITE: I wiH be very glad to answer your lordship, and 

I am glad you raised the· question, because I should not have raised it 
myself. I would say this, that it is impossible for a man to --ay what 
brought about a state of mind at a certain time, but, without any ques­
tion, a man who is, so to speak, riding the financial storm of war would be 
influenced, to a certain extmt, in his judgment as to the clanger of taking 
~ certain cnur~e probably more than he would in a time of profound peace." 

Now I agree tlH're. with Sir Thomas White that it is very difficult for a man 
to say at the prcsrnt time what affected his mind at a period long pa,;t. Our 
memory is such that it, takes great.er cognizancr of oYert ach than it doe..; of 
st.ates of mind, and it takes very little, if any, cognizanec of the various eon­
s1derations that existed in forming a ,:;tat(• of mind; 50 when you want to find a 
i,,bte of mind at a time long p:1-:t, it is :,,afrr that that :--hould be determined 
from the acts that a man committed at that time, from the surrounding cir­
cumstance:-, from the environment to which his mind reacted, than it would be 
from any relianee upon memory to rnm up at this day the various considerations 
that entered into the forming of a jud1:,rment on any particular QUP:<tion. He goes 
un to say at page 382 :-

"I am not consciou,; that I w:-i-- influenced by the condit10ns exist­
ing at that time, but I am not prC'parrd to say that they were not a 
factor in determining whether a certain course i'>hould be pursued, or a 
certain other eourse pursued. I do not think anybody is quite capable of 
saying that sir, becau~e a man is unable to say what all the factors were 
that entered into his mind and influeneerl his action. 

I can tell your lorship what the eondition was during the war. I 
told you some thing of it. I was notified time and again, during the 
war, of runs taking plarC' here and there upon bank-. I have bel'll railed 
up at all hours of the night, sometime-; after I have gone to bed. I had 
been in touch with the Bankers' As,,oc·iatinn to <•lose this gap, and dose 
that g:tp and the other, and I W.'.l'i r-:winging all the finance of the Dominion 
of Can:1<b, and I was ealling on all thr banks to help me, with taking their 
proportionate share of treasury bills and acting as my al};ents to receive 
enormous ::-:urns of money which were ~subscrihl'd b:v their depositors, and 
leaving that monry on t!C'posit with the banks. My pol,icy was, and my 
cours(i was, to !C'avC' with eaeh bank, and I bdieve it was done hbsolutely 
fairly, :oo much on depo,;it as was taken from tlie depo,:itors of that bank, 
bec;nuse othC'rwise we migl•t take more than a proportionate amount from 

' one bank and give it to another~ Then we drew proportionately on those 
banks for t.he moncv that wa,:: Ut-C'd. 

Generally spealcing, sir, thd would ~C('llJ to me to be a fair summing 
up of the 3ituation. 

His LORDSHIP: Let m<' sui.'lgP,-;t thi,.; to your, Sir Thomas, please. 
There is, as you know, in Marine law, the principle of average. Goods 
!1re sent out on a ship that is making its voyage, a storm occurs, and my 
goods have, perhaps, to be thrown overboard, and your good,;, and ::,orne­
body el--c's have got to come in and help me out. You f'Ce (,-ay) there was 
nothing approaching that condition of affairs in conneetion with this 
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matter. That here wa, a bank the failure of whi<·h might prrr,ipitnL<· a 
finamial criRis at a time in which it wao mt•i,;.;,.::uy t1iat thr. utmo,,t cun­
fi<leme should pn·vail, and the po;:;itiun whid1 I am in<lined tu think m:1y 
he takPn: of it i-- th,1t it was jctti;.;um·rl fnr t!H· pub~i,· gouJ." 

H:,.: L0Ro-,,u1P: That "hould be "you ,.:ay there wa-1 nothing approaching 
t)w+ eondition," nut ''you ,:,cc." That word '';:el·" ,-;l10u1cl be the word ",-:iy." 

Mr. l\frLAUGHLD,: "You "'.lY there \\;t, nothing ,,pproa("hing; that run­
ditiun of aff::iro in cunnedion with this matfrr." Then ::--ir T11oma.-, White 
cnntinue, :---

''I would not ,.::1y that wa;; ~o. On the other hand, as I have ;:tater! 
to your lord,.:hip, 1t i,.: quitl· impos,-ible for a man to mention nil tht· 
element, th:.t enter into hi,- mind. He may be unconseiou-,ly inflm·ncl·d 
by a situcition, but, ;..o far a" I ran ,-ee at the pre:-rnt timr., I am not 
awarr. that it w::s a case uf jetti-.:on at all, hut I certainly would no' 
have allowed a bank to fail during tlte war." 

That i:a the evidence upon that point. i'\ow I think in fairne::;s i.-0 Sir 
Ti1om::1-, ,vhite we have to take into con;:iLlL·ration the immc'n,-c amount of 
work he wa,- doing at that time. A~ he says, working eighteen hours a day, 
acting Premier, Lead.er in the Hou:-c, mi ,ing war lo:1ns; and we must come to 
the eonr]u,-ion t!tat hi-: state of mind. wa..; influcrn·erl by hi,- environment anrl 
by the var,iuus thing" that w0re pru-:ing upon him, and as he ~.iy,;, tlw domin­
ant foought \\a"' ah,ay,- tl1e war and th• war work. He woulrl not at that 
tintl'-whatever he might at any othPr time-~ha,·t• allowed a bank to fail. The 
mrn SU:ipicion that a public audit might h.we mused the failure of the bank. 
imprc,-:rd upon him by ::\Ir. Haney and Mr. La,h, with the fact that his mind 
w:h full of tLing:i whil'h at that time-while at other times they would not 
have bee11-wPre more important tlwn fie ra,:e of the Home Bank; the fart 
of the overpowering and dori1inating importan<'c of the war work filling hi;a 
mind, I think in justicr to him we mu;;t "~\Y that he wa~ glad ttl get the Home 
Bank off his hands, that hr wa-- glad to !,!t•t it di,po,;r rl of for the moment, glad 
i.-0 leave it in the hand:- of l\Ir. Haney and Mr. La,-h, brram,· lH· had not thP 
mind, he was not a :;uperman, he was not a god, he ,va,- only a human being, 
hr wa-< working; bt,yond the limit, of l:um:rnity; hr ;;ay" him,,df that for a ~hart 
time aftNwards he had a nervous breakdown whirh nrre;a;-ib,ted hi~ giving up 
his work for ,-.ome months; I think we have got to tt.ke all of thr:,.e things into 
con,-idcration, and a-; I have :::,,id before, I um not making any per.::onal attack 
upon 8ir Thoma,- White; I fully and thorol_\fdily hdieve that under ordinary 
circumstarn·0s, if there had been no war on, Sir Thomas "'bite would havr 
given the matiter of this bank the con~ideration that it desrrved, he would 
never have forgotten ahout it for years, but we know that when great interest:-1 
and dominati,ng thought ::i.re in a man's mind, it is ea~v to forget the lesser 
when the greater engro,:;:c, the whole mind; ~o I frcl that the reasons stated 
by Sir Thomas White, the fact that af~er the failure of this bank, when ht· 
gave the fi.rst interview, he gaw that a;. the dominating reason, or as a domin­
ating reason, the fact that he say,-; now that during the whole prriod that wa;­
the dominating thought in his mind, the quite reasonable fact that he says 
he rannot tell at the pn'srnt time--and I don't think anybody else <'ould tell­
what were the various factors that affected him in forming hi,s judgment and 
in the action:; he took in this matter; but we all know that the human mind 
reacts to it,; environment and consequently we cannot eome to any other con­
clusion than that Sir Thomas White'c; mind and artion-. were influenred by thr 
greatest thing in all his environment, the War, in overlooking what under other 
circumstance,, would have been his bounden duty, and a duty of such vast 
importanrc that it requirrd the fulle-;t and most careful examination and 
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investigation; but va~t a-, the importance of the failure of the Home Bank, 
and it.3 effrrt upon banking credit at this partirular time, thr life and death 
~truvglc that this country ancl the Empire w,1~ in, was of still va,:ter import­
ance, and it might be ea-,y for ::3ir Thoma;:: Whitr to say :-"I will let t:iese 
people have this bank, h·t them run it a while longer, and if the time comes 
when it ha-, to rlo,;:e its doom, I will make some other bank tnke it over, or 
if not, I wJl give tile necessary Government as,;id:mce to prevent any financial 
1-risiE. or financial trouble in the country." I think in fairne,:s all thcc;e things 
have to he taken into eon· idnatiun. The dcpo;::itors in putting thic; ra-,e before 
your lordship and repres<'nting it all the way through, are particularly desirous 
nf trPating everybody fairly. We want to do romplctr justice to the reputa­
tion of every man. We arc a,king tlie Governmrnt to do complete justice to 
us, and we want to come in with clean hands; we want to come in, not abw,ing 
anybody, but I/living everybody full credit for every consideration that can 
be raised, and trying to get at the real and actual truth of the matter, so that 
we can not only re.ceive ju,,tice, but do justice. 

I have now laid out the framework and my colleague:; will go over the 
evidence, backing up the theory that we have ::;et forth. I submit to your lord­
ship that the material before you is mfficient to answrr all of the questions. 
The only question that we would like to have given you more information on, 
is the state of the bank in 1923. I do not think that question is really sub­
mitted, but it is a matter that your lordship, of course, would want to report 
on. Your lordship will appreciate the difficultie::; ,Ye have had in giving you 
detailed evidence; we would like to have given greater detail in some respects 
than we have lbren able to give. I am sure I thank your lordship for your 
kindness and courtc•;:,y in li:;tening to me so patiently. Mr. Lee will now follow 
me. 

His LORDSHIP: Mr. Lee. 

ARGCMENT BY MR. LEE 

Nly lord, I desire to thank the learned Counsel for the Government for 
t-he very kind assistance they have afforded us during the progre"s of this 
Commission, and on behalf of the 60,000 depo:3itors whom I have the honour 
of representing here before you, I beg to thank you, sir, for the uniform 
courte,;y which ha,; been extended to the depositor's Counsel and to the 
Coun;:,el representing others: upon this Commi~sion. 

This is an investigation of very great moment to the people of Canada. 
Upon your report will greatly depend what the Committee on Banking and 
Commerce of the Hous,e of Common'3, may recommend to the Government, in 
so far as amendments, to the Banking Act at this session are concerned. We 
are desirous, of having an interim report at as early a date as is possible 
consistent with the tremendous amount of evrdence which is before you, becau:,e 
we are desirous in our request of asking the Government that if your report 
should be favourable to us, that that report should be supplemented by way 
of a bill which ·would give to the depoflitors in this bank-f'ome 60,000 of them­
full justice, if it is found tha.t the statement~ contained in our petition, 
presented to the Governor-Qeneral-in-Council have been made good by us. 
Now, my lord, wh:lt are those statement,,. When the petition was presented to 
the Governor-General-in-Council, we had not had the opportunity of making a 
search, nor were we aware of evidence which has been presented here, considerable 
of it, through the kindne1:,s of the Counsel for the Government, and through their 
assistance; and in cirawing our petition we presented in it those facts which were 
then in our knowledge, and which we thought, under those circumstances, if 
we could prove those facts, would warrant the Government in coming to our 
assist::ince. Now in the petition we ::;tate that:..L 
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"(2) The said bank was a chartered bank doing bu-.,ine-s under the 
prn\'if-ions of the Bank Act. Your petitioners arc informed and believe 
that in the year 1915 and again in 1916 and 1918 rrpresentationf. were made 
to the Departmrnt of Finance of the Dominion of Canada rrspertine; the 
condition of the Home Bank of Canada and revealing a state of affairs that 
would have just'ified an investigation by the Department of Finance under 
the powt:r::, conferretl upon the ~Iin:-ter of Finance under Section 56A 
of the Bank Act, whereby he wa-; authorized to examine and enquire 
specially into any of tlie affairl'! or bu-ine-~ of tl1e bank. 

(5) If. :mch audit had been made your pc:titioners believe that the 
condition of the Bank would have been shewn to be such that it::; con­
tinuanre in business could not have b<.:en furtb:-r permitted. 

(6) Your petitioner& believe that if the said Bank had erased doing 
bu::,ine::,.:l at the time the said disclo,mre::; were made, the then existing 
u~c;ets would have been almost, if not quite sufficient to meet all claims 
of creditors, whereas, by reason of the bank continuing in bu;:;iness until 
the 17th day of Augm:t, 1923, and greatly incrrasin!!; the amount of money 
belonging to the public on deposit, and at the same time permitting the 
asset,, of the said bank to be irreatly diminif:hed in proportion to the 
amount of tht: deposits, the present depositors have suffered and will 
unlesi:: relief is, granted, suffer a very tevere lod. 

(7) Your petitioners submit that the reason~ an audit wm, not 
made of the 1:,uid bank, and in aceordance with the powers v~ted in 
the .Minister of Finance, wrre rrason:;; of a publi'c and national character, 
and intended for foe benefit of the p~1blic at l,mz;c and that therefore the 
loss to the present depoi"'itors occa,:ioned by tHe hank being permitted 
to continue to do bu<nc.,.:; should be borne by the public at large and 
not by the prei;ent depositor~. 

(10) Your petitioners therefore f:ubmit t!12.t whether rightly or 
wrongly the depositors of the Home Bank of Canada were largely of the 
opinion that the Fin:..nt'l' Department of the Government of Canada 
exercised such rnpervidon over Cli:utcred Banks that it was impo:c,.ible 
for depositors to loi::e their i:::iving" entru,oted to such a bank the charter 
of which had been renewed from time to timr. by Parliament and it is 
further submitted that the confidence of the people m, a whole would be 
greatly restored if adc4uate relief wt:re gnnted to them depositor:;." 

As one uf the ,:iiz;nc•rR of that petition, anrl as Chairman of the Nationt1l 1 Committee of the Hume Bank of Canacta, I probably would take a deeper in­
tere::1t than po~,-ibly otht>r Cuun~r>l m;!,'.ht in prct-cnting this matter to your lord­
ship. This matter strikes me from probably a difforent angle than it might 
my learned lt~ad~r. We huve alleged in thi;:; petition that certain facts and cir­
cumstance;:; ex1"te<l during 1915, 1916 and 1918, but that does not preclude, 
I rnhmit, that we can ;:;how that certain other fart'l and circumst:.rnces existed 
in 1919, 1920, 1921, 1922 and 1923 which were also known to that same De­
partment of Finance, as we petitioned against. Now in reading the Bank Act, 
I have been unable t,0 find rnything which would give Furh wide powers as 
we learn from Sir Thomas White and Sir Henry Drayton, when they were in 
the witneFs box here before us, they might have exercised. I do not find that 
the Ministry of Finance has any power to take over any Bank, but I do find 
inferentially that the Mini:;,try of Finance has by way of investigation, either 
under section 113, or by way of audit under section 56A, power to close a bank. 
My learned friend Mr. McLaughlin has discussed with your lordship, at con­
siderable length, the reasons t:hat prompted Sir Thomas White in doing what 
he did during the progrm;;:; of these negotiations in 1916. I am going, my lord, 
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a little further, I um going to :;my here that had the duty which I believe wu:> 
cast upon Sir Thoma,: White under thi:l Act-that had he 1·~trried out the duties 
whieh I believe he had the right to carry out under the Banking Act-that 
had Sir Henry Drayton carried out the duties wl, ich I fully believe he had the 
right to carry out under that Act-and had the Hon. Mr. Fielding carried out 
his duties, which I believe he had the right to carry out under this Act, having 
regard. to all the fact<i and f'ircumstances whieh are now known, and which 
could have been known by investigation-then this bank would not have failed. 

At this point, permit me a. digression. Considerable has been said before 
yo1,1r lordi;hip and in the public press in reference to the files of correspondence 
of the Finance Department. As I understand the evidence--and I thmk your 
lordship will correct me if I have misunderstood it,-1 fully believe that the 
facts which I am now going to relate. are correct as I sbte them. There was 
in the Department of .Financ~ on the pnblic file of that Department, a large 
amount of corre,:pondence which I will call here "The Fisher correspondence," 
and which was :,,ent to Bir Thomas White on or about the 22nd January, 1916. 
That corrp,:pondence and" that file, so far as t)1e evideme before you, sir, is 
eoncerned, remained upon the files of the Mini:-.try of Finance during all the 
time that Sir Thoma::; White was there, Sir Henry Drayton was there, and Mr. 
Fielding, the prcsPnt Minister of Finance, was there. Sir Thomas White had 
al:,;o a private, or call it a semi-public file, which he kept under his own direc­
tion; and when he left the Department, he ldt that file with his private secre­
tary, Mr. Roberts, which file remained with Mr. Roberts until about three 
months after the failure of this bank. 

During all the time in which this public file, which Wt have described as the 
Fisher file, was there, Sir Henry Drayton had the advantage of r,ecing that file, of 
reading that file, and writing to Sir Thomas White about that file, and of con­
ducting various correspondence in reference to that file. 

Then after Sir Thomas White left he left his file there, which I think wa:i 
perfectly correct and proper, because t\1ey were papers upon public business of 
the Department of Finance, and of the people of this country. 

Sir Henry Drayton had ah,o a semi-public private file, and while it may be 
private to the Minister and is not meant to be public to the people of Canada, 
still it does ,:0em :,,trange that :Mini,:ters should Like away the::,e files in a crisi" 
such as has come in connet;tion with the Horne Bank, so that depositors, whom 
I repre.-,ent, were given very much more trouble in digging out the evidence 
than they otherwise should ht. ve had. ' 

Sir Henry Drayton took away his private file, and nobody had access to 
that privat,e file until Sir Henry Drayton produced it in this Court before you, 
and the depositors had not the advantage of knowing what was in that file, because 
we knew nothing about that correspondence except by going through the liquid.'l­
tor's files to find what might have been there . 

So that we reach a period down to when Sir Henry Drayton left the Depart­
ment and then, i,o far as we can find, there :s no further correspondence. There 
are no 'further papers except the usual monthly returns sent to the Government 
in the usual course of events by this bank. So that, during the whole course, 
from the time when Sit Henry Drayton resigned down to the present moment, 
or down to the time at least, on the 23rd of August, 1923,when this bank suspended 
and closed its doors, there does not seem to be one single document, there does 
not seem to be one single communication from the successor of Sir Henry Drayton, 
Mr. Fielding, do'fn to the time the bank closed up. I think that is truly the state­
ment as contained in the evidence of :Mr. Roberts, Sir Henry Drayton, and Sir 
Thomas White. 

If I have, in any way, misstated theEe facts, I would ask the learned counsel 
for the Government to call my attention to it, because sometimes in these matters 
we might not make as full a statement as we possibly might desire. 
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Nuw I think, in that way, that I have rlr,1re.l up the matter of where the:::e 
filr,, were, the length of time they were in tJ1e Department, and what was done 
with tht>m. 

The c,idcnce of Mr. Robrrts drarly show,, this, that Sir Thomas "\Vi1itc's 
private file rrmaineLl in t 11e Department a long time after he had left and 
rei\ihrntrl a-, -:\·Iini"trr. Sir Hrnry Drayton's file also remained there but was not 
arrc ~-d..>le tn Mr. Fielding, and that a short time after the bank faikcl thrse 
two private files of Sir Thomas Wl.ite and ~ir H~nry Drayton were ~cnt 
to Sir Thomr,:,1 \Vhite and Sir Henry Drayton resprrtively. 

Tle ang;hi at whirh this matfrr has pre,enkd it--elf to mr, notwithst:.tnding; 
the Petition which ha,: bern prei\ented to tlir Govnnor-Grnrral-in Council, i~ tbi:,1: 
Large power;; are pbccd in the band~ of a -:\Iini:-tr1· of Finan<e. H;,; powrrR are 
very wi•le; he ha-, direct :,.upr-rvi:-ion of all bank,, and banking interest" of this 
l'Ountry. 

Tl:e Government of this country give~ to the banks, and the B~mkers' 
A,:,oriation. rr-rtam right, and privilcr;rs from the proplc, and rrrtain duties are 
<aFt upon thr banl~s and the Banker:,' Ai\Fociation, to the people from whom 
they rerrive thus,e ril!ht'-', and, for such purpoi=:cs, the Bankers' A,,:,1ociation i,; a 
body rxi,.:ting under the Bank Act, and certain powers are given to that A,:Foria­
tion in the event of a rnspen,ion, or in the event of a bank being uable to med 
it-; liabilities. 

I would like to point out, ':'ir, that in th Pet:t:on which was pre'-'cmted 
by the depo"itors no allegation"'' arc made against any Minister of Finance. 
What i~ dbtinctly stated in thnt Pdition i;; that we are atLH·king the Depart­
ment of Finance, and we :-:ay, inferentially, that had the Department of Finance, 
through its proper Ministrrs acting durinµ; tho:-'e yPars, and down to the time 
at which this bank failed, done their duty in a proper manner, as we think 
i 1.py were entitled to do, having been placed in the re::;ponsible position of 
Minist0.rs of the Government of this f'OUntry, this bank would not have failed, 
and that it i,; by rea~on of the laxity of these Mini::--ters of Finance, it is by 
reason of the duties cast upon them by the Act, and inferentially from the Act, 
that this bank has, together with the want of proper care and management by 
the Directors of this bank, failed. 

Had the duties which were cast upon the Mini:,ter of Finance been car­
ried out with that due regard for their own duties, having regard to the fact 
that they had already discovered in this bank such circumstances as would 
warrant an ordinary man, not a superman, being put upon hi-, inquiry, and have 
been made i=:uspiriou:- of the circumstanrcs which were 1,roing on in this bank, 
having regard to those circumstances, tho~e facts having been disclo::;ed to those 
various ::'.Vlinisters, this bank would not have failed, and, by rea,;on of that ten 
millions of dollars of the people\, money would not have been lost, and, there­
fore, we come to the Crown ,:erking from the Crown that monry. 

His LoRDi>HIP: That is a very clear statement, Mr. Lee. 
Mr. LEE: Now I propose, in my humble way, to try and see if I cannot, in 

some way, prove to your lordship those statements. 
We are not making any complaint:, much before 1915, although I believe 

that this bank, from the evidence given now bdore you, was in somewhat of a 
dilapidated state in 1914, but if we look at the files which were ~ent by the 
Wes tern Directors, and which will be found commencing at page 17 of the 
evidence, it is there stated by Mr. Fisher, acting on the in,;tructions of Messrs. 
Pers-,e, Kennedy and Crerar, that the authorizPd rapital of this bank was five 
million dollars, subscribed two million dollar:;, and that five hundred thou­
sand dollars· of that wa-:; held in the Prairie Provinces; that the number of 
shareholders in the West was roughly eleven hundred, and the number of share­
holders in the Ea~t was roughly ,ix hundred. And, of course, my lord, they 
had a very great interest in making thc::,e repre~entutions. They owned at that 
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time, with their friends, probably over fifty per' cent of the ::;tock of this bank, 
and they found a state of circumstances, a state of wrongness, might I say, at 
that time, a festering i::ore that if it had been properly treated by the Minister 
at that time, if it had been washed and salved at that time, as I bel1eve could 
have been done-

Mr. McLAUGHLIN: Di,,infertcd. 
Mr. LEF: If it had been disinfected as my learned friend says. I ,fully 

believe that if the sanitary officers had been called in the putrid condition of 
this bank, as now revealed to us, would not be here. 

They had a great reason for going to the Minister of Finance. They had 
been making representations to the Eastern Directors for some period of time. 
These representations, apparently regarding General Mason as, a Manager in 
whom they had not confidence, had been made at verious periods of time from 
1914 on, in fact, their confidence has been already lost. 

Mr. Creyar de8erves a vote of thanks up to that time for his efforts in 
endeavouring to put this bank in a proper state, and he had rea&on to do so. 
Mr. Crerar, one of the leaders of these Directors in the West, had induced his 
own Company, or with his friends, to purchase a thousand shares of stock. 
As was stated here, the Company, of which he was President, had issued a 
prospectus, stating in that prospectus, what a splendid thing it would be for 
the farmers of the West to invest in the stock of the Home Bank. It seemed 
a reasonable investment to Mr. Crerar at that time, and consequently Mr. 
Crerar felt called upon, probably more rn than any other single Director of 
this bank, to take-watchful care, to keep a strong eye, so to speak, over this 
bank, and to see that it was managed properly, because his friends, his businefs 
acquaintances, had taken stock upon his representations. 

Mr. Fisher points out that early in the Fall of 1914 suggestions came to the 
Western Directors that the businef'3 of the chief Toronto office of the bank was 
not in good condition. There is a -statement that, in 1914, the businef'.s was not 
in good condition, a statement by one of the Directors, a man who should 
know, if anybody knows, the business of the bank, and he became anxious, 
therefore, to have the matter inquired into and. thus lead to action being taken 
on the lines therein indicated. 

At page 18, my lord: 
"Certain information was given at that meeting, with which, how­

ever,· the Western members of the Board were not by any means 
satisfied, as is shown by a letter of 17th February, 1915, addressed by 
the Western members to Mr. A. C. Macdonell, that letter being sent to 
him particularly because he was a member of the legal profession, and 
we reliPd upon him to be of assistance to us in getting the fullest in­
formation possible." 

Then he goes on in that letter, and he states that the same matters were 
further discussed at a meeting held in the end of December. 

Then a little further down he says: 
"At the November meetings we made enquiry as to whether any 

recent inspection had been made of the Toronto office, and were told 
by Col. Mason that it had not been deemed necessary to have it in­
spected because the business of- tha! branch came weekly ?efore _the 
Board. We protested against the failure to have a regular mspect10n, 
and at a subsequent meeting an inspection was directed to be made by 
Mr. Adair the bank's supervisor. We specially urged that it should be 
ready for ~ubmis,;ion before the annual meeting to pe held late in June. 

79220-2 



646 

a 

ROYAL COMMISSION 

It turned out, however, that the insp£ction report was not ready when 
the annual meeting war:; held on 29th June, but we did not know of its 
not being completed until we came to the meeting." 

There is the first danger signal, I ,:ubmit to your lordship, that would have 
made a Minir:;ter of Finunee, in reading that correspondence. submitted to him 
by Mr. Fisher, at least a little suspicious of 1what was going on in the manage­
ment of this bank, and by rea-;on of the Wer:;tern Directors not knowing any­
thing about the annual report which was going to be presented to the annual 
meeting until the annual meeting was held. 

A man ,;killed in dealing with finances, as the Honourable Mr. White has 
Pxpressed it -;o well in giving Iii:; evidence, would have seen and would have read 
tl1at ciause over. 

·we mu,,t remember, when we are dealing with thi:;: matter, my lord, that 
Mr. ·white wa-; not the ordinary man going into t!ie Department of the Mini,J.ry 
of Finanre. He was a man who had had a good deal of experienrc in variou-: 
departments of the civic service in the City of Toronto for long period of years. 
He was a mun who hurl. ref'<•iwd hie; diploma at the Bar of tl1e Provinf'e of 
Ontario. Hl· wa~ a man wr,o had had the .finanf'i;.tl dirc•ction of a very lar!!<' 
rompany, the T\ ational Tru::;t Company, for a considPrab1e number of year'-'. 
and so, therefore, lie wa-, not the ordinary man u;omg into the "'\Iini--try n;' 
Financ-e, and "'ho::-:e su,pi1·:ons, by way of hi::- expcricncr, .-hould not have been 
arou,,;ed quite ::-:o ea:;ily by these word-;: 

"We ,-pecially urged that it ;ahould be ready '.or submiHion bdore 
the annual med-ing to be hdd late in June. It turned ·out, howev,er, that 
the im,pe!'tion report .wa:;: not ready when the annual meeting wa-, held 
on 29th June, but we did not know of it,; nut b,,~ing eumpkted until we 
came to the mretmg." 

_ Even admitting the war war:; on, and large loans WPre having to be lookc 1 
after, and trunendous power and rc-;ponsibility was p;iven to Mr. White, but, 
a-; he ~ay:::, very dearly, he liad a good ;,:rasp of his duty, surely this fir<-t intima­
tion, in reading that, :,,houlrl have bren the d1tnger signal hung out and rau:,,e 
him to :-ay, I rnnnot treat thi.,: bank in the ordi,n:1ry cour!:'c, I mu"t bP. su;,pieiou,; 
of that management., I mu,t have '-'onie su:-pirion that thing~ are not going aloqi; 
very well, and I mu;,t k((•p my wcatl:u eve on this bank ajl the time; I am not 
sati::-:fied when I e;<'t a ~tatement from \\ :thin writtm at the in,-,tance of threP 
DircPtor:-a of thi:-:: bank, I must be more ti.an cJ.rcful with this particular bank. 

Now, thi,; letter goes on, and it :-:ays: 

"Early in January, 1916, a letter dated 31,;t Dec., 1915, !.:Opy 0f 
which is at.tarhrd, wa,; received from the Urneral 1Ianager, announcini:r 
the n,-,ignation of Mr. ~-Ic:'\aught a-- a Director." 

A ~t'ronJ danger signal. What i:- the meaning of this? Evi'n a glanCP at 
that ll'ttc.:r announcing the rc:,;ignation of a DirPf'tor, bken tog;Pther with t'1c 
rr!:'t of the letter, would have indieatPd tlu,t r\'crytliing was nut right. It should 
have mc:1nt that an inve-sti!-'...ition by him should be made. 

It further says: 

"Announring the re:aig;nation of Mr. J\frKaught as a Dirrrtor, and th•· 
election of Mr. Hanry in his pLw •." 

Of eour,;e, it might be well argued, it might lw wrll ;:aid, that ba11k Diret·t.ort­
are dying eve~y cl:...y, b:mk Direc!,on; are rP~igning for variou,, puq~u~ef, and it 
was of yery ht.tie moment, ( ~pL•t·iully durmg t!w war "·lwn Mr. "· lute had ~o 
muf'h to do, but it goes on to :--ay: 

.. 
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"On or about the 17th irn-t., we received from the General Managn 
a letter ( eopy. attached in the Barnard memo) announcing the resignation 
of Mr. Gooderham-" 

Another of the Directorate. Not often do we find two Directors of a bank 
re,;igning the very same day, that is not a common occurrence, and this ought 
to have been another danger signal to Sir Thomas, and they point out: 

"We knew nothing of this meeting, and we under::;tand Mr. Macdonell 
was btill absent from the Province." 

They are pointing out that this meeting was an irregular one, so to speak, 
and they go on furthr to bay: 

" "We draw attention to the fact, referred to in the accompanying 
memorandum relating to the Barnard loan-" 

They have already announced the fart that Barnard ha8 been elected in Mr. 
Oooderham's place, and Barnard, at this time, i,; a borrower from this bank. 
He is now elected as a Director of this very bank, and Mr. Fisher points out: 

."vVe draw attention to the fa<:t, referred to in the accompanyin~ 
memorandum relating to the Br,rn:.inl loan, that the settlement of the 
Barnard account was made on the 5tl:i January, Mr. Gooderham being, 
we as.,ume, pr-esent at that m(;eting. A telegram from :Y.lr. Gooderham 
( copy attached) shows that he re,;igned his seat at the Board on the 
following day." 

Now, that is the first danger signal to Sir Thomas White that something 
was not right in this bank. . · 

Exhibit No. 2, page 13. I would like to point out to your lordbhip that 
that memorandum· was- ah:o contained, and it was a memorandum in reference 
to the Prudential loan, and in that memorandum ::\fr. Fi:;her is not by any 
means sati.,fied, repre~enting the:;e vV t:::-.:tern Directors, because he says: 

"We thought it well to make particular enquiries from Mr. Adair, 
who made the report, as to the information put before him and he 
has told us there i,; no entry whatev;er in the books of the bank showing 
any connection with the _;New Orlean::; Railway save that these bonds 
were held as ~ceurity. He h_as told m: t:,liat ":\Ir. Anglin ha., been shown 
papers in 1·onnertion with this matter i1' the books held by Col. Mason, 
but he (Adair) has nfver had arrcP-4 to them, and the only information 
he had when the report was made was that contained in the report." 

• If the Mini"ter of Finanre had read this dol'umrnt carefully, as he has 
stated he did, he might easily have had another dan~er signal in this very 
clause, that the chief inspector, .\.dair, has not been able, nor has he had access 
to the paper., in eonneetion with a large loan repre:,enting upwards of $500,000. 

Then we pa•~ on to page 14, where Mr. Fisher say,i: 

"Nothing of importance relating to this loan: came up until 
November, 1915, when the extraordinary situation ,-hown in the att2.chcd 
corrc~pondemc wa:< di,rlo,:rd, indir,tting that the loan of $500,000 was 
not made at all to the Prudential Company but to the New Orleans 
Railway people, Mr. C. D. Warren, the President of thEJ former Traders 
Bank of Canada being at that time the Pre:-;ident of that Company." 

And I pass on, and at the irend 'of that letter he says: 
70220-2½ 
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"The monthly returns of the bank under the Bank Act do not, as 
we understand them, disclo.oe any current loan whatever out-;ide of 
Canada." 

That is a direct statement of the falsity of the return<; of the Home 
Bank made to the Mini:;ter of Finance by Mr. Fisher at this time. If it is 
true, it was a very :;erious statement to make, and one which should have 
placed the Minister in a pol:'ition of suying to himself, if this matter has not 
been looked upon by me seriously up to this time, it is. time that I should look 
upon it seriously now when a leading rounsd, among other documents, places 
before a respon::;ible Mini,;tcr a statement of that kind, when, at this very time, 
if the statement<, are true, there was a loan made on the New Orleans Railway 
of $300,000. ~ 

Then we pass to Exhibit 3. If that was not enough for the Honourable 
~inister, we have a memorandum here in reference to the loan of Mr. C. A. 
Barnard, the gentleman who had ju~t been placed upon the Board of this very 
bank, the gentleman who had just taken Mr. Gooderham's position, and. we 
find that Mr. Barnard, from the Irn:pertor's report-I am reading now from 
Exhibit 3-owed this hank $394,000. The ,:ecurity was 2622 shares of Home 
Bank stock in the names of Barnard and Pellatt in tru:;t. No tru<;t deed is 
held after deducting the balance at the credit of Banque Internationale account, 
the stock will have to realize approximately 125 per cent to enable the bank 
to avoid a lo,:s. . 

Sir Thomas might have been then suspiriom with tlie receipt of the report 
of a prominent officer of the bank, that fiat stock would have to realize 125 
per cent 'in 1915. Please keep thi,: in my mind, my lord, that this stock, when 
it was placed upon the market by the Home Bank, had realized 133, so that 
if thi::i stakment i., true there would have been a depreciation in 2622 sha.res 
of $8 a share at that time. 

Then on the 22nd of January Mr. Fi,,her wrote a letter and a confidential 
memo, to which I have already referred, and, among other things in that, he 
said, page 18: 

"We. protested again,-t the failure to have a regular inspection, and 
at a subsequent meeting an in,:pection was directed to be made by Mr. 
A<lair, the Bank's Supervisor." 

And then it goes on again to ~ay: 
"We draw attention 'to the fact, -referred to in the acrnmpanying 

memorandum relating to •the Barnard loan, that the :-:ettlement of the 
Barnard account wus ma1le on the 5th January, Mr. Gooderham being, 
we as,umc, pre-.:ent at that meeting. A telegram from Mr. Gooderham 
(copy altered) shows that he rr-.igned his seat at the Board on the 
following day, 6}h January." 

Now, those are the statements eontained in thnt memornnclum, and tho'le 
were somewhat serious -;tatcment~, but these gentlemen were not satisfied. 
They felt, no doubt, although they had placed that before the Minister that 
pos-ibly they could get somewhere by eorr<-'spon<ling with the late Senator 
Macdonell, who was one of the Directors of this bank. They had already 
sent, on the 17th of February, this letter to Senator Macdonell, and which Sir 
Thomas White had the advantage of peru.:5ing, and in that letter they state: 

" You will remember that certain statements were submitted froin 
the General Manager at that meeting, showing extremC'ly heavy advances 
from the Toronto office to certain customers of the Bank, and the way in 
which the information was furnished was -extremely unsatisfactory. For 
instance, in one case, the indebtedne:;:s of a certain customer was stated on 
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the first day of the meeting as being $1,100,000; and the very next day 
of our adjourned meeting we were told a mistake had been made, and that 
his actual indebtedne:::;; was $1,500,000, while on the next following day, to 
which the meeting was again adjourned, it was disclosed that the in­
debtedness actually reached $1,780,000, while at the meeting of 30th 
Derember it. was stated to be nearly $2,000,000, if not indeed more than 
that sum." 

Sir Thoma1S_ White, when reading that staterpent, if he had never had any 
suspicions in'the correspondence which I have already read, should have had the 
danger signal hung out ,and all trains flagged immediately when he s3w that 
st.atement, if he believed that stetement. Why ::;hould he not have believed 
it? Was there any reason? Was it not a communication sent by these Western 
Directors to one of their own people about their own 'internal management of 
this bank? If he wanted to test the weight of that evidence, feeling that there 
might be some trouble on the Board or something of that kind it would have 
been very ea:;y for him to find out. He had in connection with the statement 
which I have already read to your lordship, sent to him by Mr. Fisher, that state­
mrnt made by these ·wE•stern Directors which was enclo,,ed by Mr. Fisher to the 
Minister. Was that not something that should have aroused his suspicion? 

Then they go on to say: 

"After our return to Winnipeg, and no advice being rereived from 
Toronto showing such act'ion to have been taken, I wrote to the head 
office for information and received copy-of another resolution that had been 
passed by the Board at a later date, reading as follows: 'It was moved, 
seconded and resolved that the further duties P.rescribed for the Assistant 
General Manager, and his associates Messrs. Adair and Dodds, in com­
pliance with the decision of a meeting held on December 30th, ult., will be 
as follows:' " 

There is a suggestion to Sir Thomas- that this bank is not in good condition; 
that there is something radically wrong, because it says: 

" (a) Place assets in a more liquid shape. 
(b) Report on possible economies. 
( c) Get in Past Due Bills. 
(d) Obtain further s!!curities on accounts where considered neces­

~ary or desirable." 

Remember sir, that a year had elapsed since that letter had been written by 
Mr. Fisher to Mr. Macdonnell. 

Then we pass along to exhibit No. 14 (page 30). These gentlemen in the 
west were not getting very far apparently and they began to wake up again, 
they are not satisfied, and on November 5th, 1915, they direct this letter to the 
General Manager, the Hon. James Mason, and among other things they say, 
after referring to the meeting: 

"Meantime, we reg'lrd it a,; particularly urgent that immediate 
steps be taken by the Executive to have a complete rev:luation made on 
a o1trirtlyrronsrrvative basis of the Bank's ac;set-,;, so that the result may 
be placed before the Board at that meeting." 

refrrring; to a meeting to be held on December 15th. They go·o~ to say:-

"It occurs to us, indeed, that it may be necrss:1ry to considPr 1,rriously 
-as suggrsted by us indeed. as 1ong ago ac; la;:t February-the question of 
placing the matter before the authorities of 

I 
the Finance Department of 

Ottawa." 
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Rir Thomas'.:; attention was again dirrrted in those worLI"-, and he rould 
ea:iily ::;ee that there wa:l a great division upon that Board in regard to thr Bank's 
affairs, that these Western Direetors were honrc;t in their criticic;m, and if some­
t,hing wa,; done that they propor-ed to tuke it up with the Minii"tn at Ot.tawa. 
A period of trn months had dap:"rd and apparrntly nothing had Ut>l·n done by the 
management to safo,fy them. 

But if that was not enough, Sir Thomas also had before him a letter of 18th 
Nowmber, 1915, exhibit No. 19, page :15, which wa~ written by l\fr. l\fo,-on to 
Mr. Crerar in answer to a letter of the 5th. Among other thing:i he said:-

''"\\'hat i,; of more ~erious con-;equrnce, grave doubt-- arc ari:::ing as to 
the financial ability of the Trust Company." . 

referring of eourse to this Prudential Trust Company. 

"It is reprrr,;ented from sourrr:;; whieh cannot be ignorerl that the 
Company have their fund:;; pretty well !ockrrl up and it now ,;pem-; quite 
pos~iblr that we may be obliged to reply upon the Rccurity to a more or Jr,,.., 
extent." 

Thi-; was a communication from the m'anagcment whirh brought to Sir 
Thomas•~ partirubr notire orie of the,-e very, very brge loans, that something 
was raJir·ally wrong with it, ~il00,000 wa,-;: tird up in a loan out ,ide of this Pro­
vinre. He might thrn haw sturfrd to im·e:,:tiµ;ate whether this bank had power 
to make such loan-; out~idc of the Provinrc under the Charter given to it by this 
very Government. However I w·ill"-.prak more about t!tat toward:,; t.he end of my 
rrmarks. 

He a.Jso might have been warned to s'1me ext nt l.y t1w letter writt ·n by Srna­
tm M<ll'<lonell to Colonel Ma-;on, exhibit Xo. 20, page 36 in whirh Senator Mac­
donPll said, 

"I think thr bank ,-;hould m.,ke every eITort not to Jo-;e these srcuri­
tie;; but to protect them." 

That was referring to the New Orlrans Railway whrre a largP !Pan ha,l bren 
made. • · ' 

Thrn we pai-.:; on to rxhibit No. 23, page 39. That is a letter from Mes,:rs. 
Prff:-C', Crrrar and KPnnr<ly tn the Manager, Colonr>l l\'la"on, datl:rl Novemuer 
30th, 1915, in which among other thing,:, they• my:-

"It wa:- your rxprrhtion "lwn your wrotl> the kttl'r that a mreting 
would be hf'id ·within a wcrk to rPl'l'iYe the rrp11rt oi l\fr,.~r,-. Adair and 
Anglin. . . . It mu,-;:t be borne in mind that this is a loan that none of ll'> 

'\Vt -tern m<'mh<'r;s ever lw.J to rlo with. The ad Yan re wa,; not authorized, 
nnr had tlw app1i<"ation fur it <·omP up for ron-:id.eration, at any mreting of 
the Board of whirh any of us Wt·re pn-;rnt. Len..;t of all did we know, or 
have any opportunity of knowing, anything whah'vrr of the ,·olbtrr:tl 
rrrurity in thr shape of honds of a Louisiana railway arn•ptl-d by th, 
bank, that j., bt>forr or wlwn the ailvan('e wa-; made." 

• 
Then at the bottom of the page:-

"We rel'all that this P.rudential case iS' the one in whid1 it was 
st.at.rd by yuur,-.elf at a mtPting in :November, 1914, above referred to 
that a sum of money <lepo,:ih•d in thr bank by the Tru-;t Company was 
held a-: ,-.fmrity, wlwrca.:; it turnr<l out, as we understand it,, that it wa"I 
actually trust monry held by the Tru'3t Company and deposited as such." 

Sir Thoma.., had that before him. 

ii 
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Then we pass to Exhibit No. 24, a letter sent by Messrs. Kennedy, Crerar 
and Persee to Col. Mason saying:-

"Meantime, we are- submitting to you a memorandum showing in 
some detail point.<; on which it will be nece,:,;ary to get full information 
before we can thoroughly understand the position." 

Following on to exhibit No. 26, we have the first appearance of Messrs. 
Warren, Bristol & Morden, it is pointed out:-

"We note also that a firm 0 of Barnard, Bristol & Morden,-" 
(They were not a firm.) 
Mr. LAFLEVR: They were as-;ociates for this transaction. 
Mr. LEE: Yes, compo;;ed of :\Ir. Barnard in :Montreal, Mr. Bri,:tol the 

Member for Parliament for centre Toronto, and Mr. Grant Morden formerly 
of King:-ton I believe. 

"Indebted to the Bank in over $32,000 are shown by the Toronto 
Inspection Report to have given the Bank as security bonds of this 
same New Orleans, Southern & G. I. Railway. 

We note that :\Ir. Z. A. Labh, KC., holds the view that a sum of 
$300,000 apparently on deposit from the Prudential Trust Company in 
the bank, cannot be applied by the Bank to meet its claim." 

My learned colleague has dealt fairly fully with the Prudential, and I 
will pass on to the letter from Mason to Mr. Crerar of December 10th, at 
the top of page 49. I might draw your lordship's attention to this fact: Mr. 
Lash, while advising that eie bank shoul~ not loa_n to pay off the Carroll loan 
and otherwise look after the Algiers situation, advised that the delay obtained 
should be used to bring pressure to bear upon the Prudential Company to clear 
up the situation as to the attitude of that company. Then exhibit No. 31, 
abo before the Minister, a letter directed by General Mason to Mr. Crerar 
in which he says, about half way down page 53:-

"You state that t.he firm of Barnard, Bri-;tol and Morden is in­
debted to the Bank for $32,000,-this amount is made up of three notes 
of $10,000 each, and accrued intere!'-t, upon which C. A. Barnard, 
Edmond Bristol and W. Grunt Morden are jointly and severally re­
'!3pons1ble. It i~ not a partnership and was advances made direct to the 
three parties mentioned in the collateral security of some $62,000 of 
the bonds of the steam railroad."· 

I think that explains what my learned friend 1Ir. Lafleur called my at­
trntion to. 

Then we pa~-, on until among other letters which are not of so much im­
portanre we come to Exhibit No. 34. 

The first inspection report by Mr. Adair, made on July 21st, 1915. Notwith­
standing war conditions and all the labour Sir Thomas White bad had looking­
into thL,;e matters, surely some attention might have been paid to this report. 
It was the first inspection the Toronto branch had l'ver had. If it were not such 
a tragedy I might know how to characterize the conduct of the management of 
this bank. Here is the fir;::t report, made by the man appointed Cl;iief Supervisor 
to make a report to the Dirl'ctors. He says:-

" Routine1--The routine of the office shows signs of the lack of efficient 
supervision. Discrepancies were numerous and are briefly out:ined here­
under, they have already been taken up in d<'tail verbally with the 
management. 
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Cash-Large chl:ques are held in the teller's cash over night un­
certified. Returned ehl'ques and rnndry item'l are held as ca;::h. 

Collatlral N ates-The register of thOfe wa:5 in very bad shape, and 
many note,, were not diarized. 

Cm tamers' Pape rs-There was lack of ;:;ystem in the filing of the,:-=. 

Current Loan.,; and Discount-The total of these is some five and a 
half million dollars made up as under:-" 

The total amount ,va~ $5,517,410, and there were overdraft<; of $824,411 in 
ii, small bank whieh had a paid up capital at that time of about $1,000,000. 

Mr. SnnNGTON: The paid up capital was nearly 82,000,000,-$1,900,000 
in 1915. 

Mr. LEE: Then I beg p:1rdon. Then when we come to call loans; if thne 
had been nothing E·he come to tl1e mind of the Honourable Minister to arouse 
his su,-;picions as a bu,c:inr:=:s man this should have done it. At that time there 
were call loan:; amounting to Sl.607,000 of whi('h $1,492,000 was ad vanccd to 
Pelhtt & Pctatt. That wa::i a firm of brokc>rs doing busine;::s in Toronto, from 
which city the Honouralile 1\IinistPr of Finance comes and where he had a great 
deal of acquaintance. 

"Staff-Some changes have atready bren madf' and more will be 
recommended. On the whole the staff compares favourably with that 
in other branches of the service." 

That is a very significant remark of Mr. Adair's. I do not know how 
ironically he meant it, but from what has bPen disclosed before us now it apper.r::; 
somewhat that way to me. 

"In conclm,ion, it would seem that had regular returns been made 
to Head Office in accordance with the Rules and Regulations, and in 
common with all other bn1nches, the affairs of this branch could not 
possibly have drifted into their present condition. The statement,:; that 
have been submitted have been signed by officers who knew them to be 
incomplct·e, and it is not surpri1:,ing that laxity and irregularity have made 
them-;elves manifest." 

What a splendid report of the fir;::t inspection of the Toronto branch. The 
bank had started about 1905 and in tm years there had been one inspection of 
the place where seventy five per cent or more of the money was loaned, and 
these comments are made on it by their own Chief Inspector, they come to the 

• 

attention of the Minister of Finanrr. and we will see afterward what he does. ., 
Then we pass along to Exhibit No. 41 on page 73, a letter from Mr. A. W. 

Anglin dated December 2, 1915 to Colonel M:1c;on in reference to the Prudential 
Trust Company. He says:-

"l. Mr. Lash F-tated that the matter was primarily one for the Bank's 
Board to determine. He felt instinctively, however, on the whole situation, 
that the Boarrl should decide not to make the new advances which would 
be required to pay off or take over the Carroll loan and otherwise lock 
after the Algiers situation." 

Then we have a statement placPd before him, Exhibit No. 42, of the Barnard 
account, showing that thici grntleman who had just rec,ently been put on the 
Board, owed thi::i bank upwardR of $411,000. 

Then on January 24th, 1916, Sir Thomas White wrote to General Mason 
giving him notice that thc,:,e various ::;tatements had been made. All I have been. 
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reading from hithert-0 were dorummts that were enclosed to Sir Thoma::, by 
Mr. Ficher. Then Sir Thomas White, having got this letter, writes to General 
Marnn and says: 

"There has been placed officially before me a memorandum signed 
by James Fisher, K.C. of Winnipeg, acting on behalf of Messrs. Crer:ir, 
Kennedy and Per!:se, Directors of your Bank residing in Winnipeg. This 

• memorandum calls attention to certain account<s of your Bank about 
which it is evident the Directors in question are much concerned, and in 
the circumstances I deem it my duty to ask for full particulars from your 
Board and from your Auditor whom I have to-day written in the matter." 

He points out the accounts in question: 

1. Prudential Trust Company, $500,000. 
j 

Pellatt & Pellatt, ,The Home City Estates Limited, Toronto City 
Estates, Limited. 

3. A. C. Frost & Company. 

And there are some other ac~ounts, he says, referred to in the Inspection 
Report mentioned which would appear from t!1e n·port to be in an unsatisfactory 
condition, but the three set out above appear to be those about which the Western 
Directors are chiefly concerned; and he asks him: 

"I shall be obligrd if you will write me officially, st)tting out concisely 
the history of these loans and indicating the amounts of unpaid 'interest 
(if any) in such accountd. . . . . . . . Apart altogether from the question 
of security, the loans appear to me to be excc,edingly large having regard 
to the capital of your bank-" 

Sir Thomas is at this time seized of the fact that having regard to the capital 
of $1,960,000 there wa.,, more than the whole capital or that bank out upon these 
three loans. He says:-

• 1 
"In directing to you this letter with reference to the memorandum 

which, as I have stated, has come before me offirially, I am following the 
practice which we have hitherto adopted in similar cases and am acting 
under the Provisions of Section 113 of the Bank Act." 

Could he not have acted under Section 56A of the Bank Act? He could 
have changed his practire, he did not need to act under Section 113. 

Section 113 in my opinion is a very reasonable way of doing things, not 
quite so drastic perhaps as Section 56. Section 112, subsection ;I:, says:-

"The Minister ·may also call for other or special returns from. any 
bank, and may require that the· bank shall transmit or deliver such oth~r· 
or special returns at monthly or other prescribed periods, or whenever in 
his judgment they are necessary to afford a full and complete knowledge 
of its condition." 

Section 113 says: 
" "Every return provided for or required for under the last preceding 

section ghall be accompanied by declarations which shall he a part of 
the return, and the declarations shall be in the form set forth in schedule 
G. to this Act, and shall be signed by the Chief Accountant or by the 
Acting Chief Accountant, and by the President,-" 

Mr. SYMINGTON: What year is that? 
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Mr. LEE: The 1923 revision. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: U ndcr the old Act :5ertion 113 is the ,;ertion which gives 

the Minister the right to a-;k for information. · 
Mr. LEE: Then it will be settion 112. I will undntake to give it to your 

lord:-hip. I have the wrong copy. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: The present Art is much more detailed than thl, old Act 

as to the nature of the information. The old Art was that he could cull upon the 
bank for what information he wanted. -

Mr. Lrn: It really corresponds with ~ertion 112, sub:-edion 4. 
Now section 56A of thi-; Act to which I hav,e referred wa:; not changed at 

all from the old ~ection. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: I think not. 
Mr. LEE: Se<·tion 56A reads: 

"The Minister may direct and rtquire any Auditor appointed under 
the next preceding section of this Act, or any other auditor whom he may 
sdect, to Pxamine and inquire specially into any of the affairs or bu-<iness 
of the bank, and the Auditor so appointed or selected, as the case may 
be, shall, at the conrlu-;ion of his examination and inquiry, report fully 
to the Minister the results thereof." 

Then subsection 4:-

"The person sclPcted by the Minister under this section shall, for the 
purposes of sPrtion 153 of this Act, be depmed to be an auditor of the 
bank." 

Mr. SYMINGTON: I think that is different in the new Act. 
Mr. LEE: TlH'n I will undertake to sec if it iR. 
Sir Thomas wa-; requested for further time in a letter from Col. Mason. 

Colonel Mason agreed that under :section 113 he had only thirty days to make th€ 
statemenh. On January 26th, 1916, Sir Thomas said:-

"I do not state any time limit for the return requested but as the 
allcg:1tions made to us on behalf of t"lTbin of your Director~, who should 
have knowledge of the mattt,rs in question, are of :;o serious a character 
l think it advisable that your reply should be completed and forwartled 
at as early a date as po;,;i'ibJ.e." 

Then on January 24th, Mr. White abo wrote to Sidney H. Jone:;, Exhibit 
~o. 46 and among other things ;;aid to him: 

'Tnder the provi,..-;ion" of Scc-tion 56A of the Bank Act I now direct 
and require you as auditor to inquire into the accounts mentioned and 
rrport to me in all proper detail re~pecting them." 

Then on January 21th, 1916, Mr. White writes a letter to Mr. Fislwr 
acknowledging receipt from him, acting on behalf of l\fossrs. Crerar, Kennedy 
and Per:-"e, of the memorandum with corre-:pondenrc attached and the rc·port 
of the inf'prction of the Toronto branch; and he baid :-

" I have drawn to the attPnt:on of the President and the Auditor 
of the bank the ac-<"ounts about which I understood from you your 
clients were prin('ipally concerned.'' , 

Then we pac'- on in relation to Mr. "-11ite':;; knowledge, until we get the 
letter of February 2, 1916, exhibit 50, writtrn by him to General ~fa-o'n in 
which he sa~·s among other things that he wunts a copy of the agreement between 
the Bank and the PTHricntial Trust Company. 
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" It will be nece::>ary for me in this connection, in order to a,:certain 
the finanrial rr,:poh~ibility of the Prudential, to order an investiga­
tion under the authority of the Trust Companies Act." 

Of course he had wider powers than given under the Bank Act. He was 
then threatening to order an investigation of that particular account under the 
Trust Companie::: Act. 

Mr. SYMINGTON:· An investigation of the Trust Co. 
Mr. LEE: Yes. And as far as the evidence before us at the present time 

shows, Sir Thomas ,:eems to have forgotten al]. about this. He seems to have 
gone away and slept during the next two or more years and forgotten that 
such a letter was ever written. That is the first we have heard about any 
investigation under the Tru::;t Companfo::i Act, and we have never heard of it 
since. The only thing we have heard is that tl1ere was a report made at some 
future time by one of the mer.cantile agencies in reference to another trust 
company. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Are you sure of that? 
Mr. LEE: It is the Fidelity Tru~t Company, I beg pardon. 
Then on page 80, on February 2, 1916, Mr. White makes a memorandum 

in this matter like a good business man, Exhibit No. 51 :-

" Memorandum re Home Bank of Canada. 
MesHs. Haney and Barnard, K.C., called on me a few days ago · 

with reference to the affairs of the above bank. They stated among 
other things that th~y had only recently become Directors and believed 
if given a little time they could reorganize the affairs of the bank so as 
to place it upon a much better basis." 

Why reorganize? Was not that a danger signal to Sir Thomas White? 
Wm, he not i:'eized of crrtain rorre~pondence? All he had done up to that 
time was to ask t.lwir own Auditor for an investigation of certain accounts. 
He goes on and says:-

" With refrrrnce to the matter of payment of dividen~nd taking 
into profit account intere,:t upon such loans as the Fro:5t loan, I stated 
that thi"l wa-; a matter of judgment developing upon the Directors who 
would have to be careful to· see that they did not by payment of 
dividends impair the capital of the bank and dimini>'h the security of 
depositors and other creditor!"." 

It was very kindly advice, and well me;1nt, t 1iat Sir Thomas gave, to thes€ 
gentlemen at that time. But advire is not oftEcn tendered unlr,:s there are 
reasons for giving it, r,:pecially by a man like Sir Thomas White of such great 
experience, and as :Mini,:ter of Finance. So he must huve had some very· 
compelling influence in his1 mind to eau~" him to point 9ut to two other 
bu,:ine,:s men, one of them a King's Coum,el at Montreal, that they would 
have to be very careful not to pay dividends so as to impair the bank's 
<'apital. Why did he point that out? Did he not have some fear ,that these 
gPntlPmen wne going to pay dividends out of capital, which was a serious 
criminal offence? He must have had something in his mind to cam,e him to 
make this note al the time. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Will you notice the beginning of that ,:cntence, " I spoke 
strongly as to the Fro:::t account .... " 

l\Ir. LEE: They discu~sed with him generally the Prudential, Frost and 
Pellatt accounts. " I spoke to them strongly as to the neee,;.oity for bringing 
pre:;s.ure to bear upon fellatt and the Prudrntial Tru::,t· Company, whose affairs 
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I stated I would probably inve:::tigate if I rame to the conclusion that it was 
not living up to it<i engagement with the bhnk. I spoke ,:trongly as to the 
Frost account, and generally impressed upon thrm that a Lravy duty developed 
upon them in re-,pect of the administration of the bank with wl1id1 they were 
now identified." 

Mr. SYMINGTON: The nrxt sentence i-; the one I had in mind. 
Mr. LEE: ",vith referenrr to the matter of payment of dividends and 

taking into profit a<'count interr,t upon ~mh loans as the Frost loan-" 
He mu::;t have had in mind at that time, aftrr looking over the various 

statemrnt'l, that they had taken into profit;; crrtain large amounts of interr;;t 
which had bern capiblizcd, and from which they tad brPn paying dividrnds, 
which in itFelf wm, a <'r:minal offcnee for which' they would be liable if they 
were partieR to it. That \\"UR another •danger Rignal that he had to do Rome­
thing, somehting real, rnmrthing; that would Ftop transarfams of this kinJ. 

Thn he gets another letter from Mr. Fi,:l1t~r written on February 18th, 
in which Mr. Fi~IH•r among other things puints out to him again, (page 82) :-

. " It is true that my client~ arc mo~t dr·~irou-; to co-operate har-
moniously with ::\.:Ir. Haney, whom Mr. La~h, rightly as I think, regard~ 
as the strong man-'' 

I would Jir~ct • attention to that word " :etrong" u~cd by :\Ir. Fisher, 
because at the end of my argument I am going to draw crrtain conclusions a:; 
to how this bank was wreekrd and who helped to wreck it. 

"But it was quite clrar to me that they would not for a moment 
be contrnt with ati inve,:tigation to be condu~ted h,1 the Board as at 
present con,tituted. It wa" decided, indeed, that afh>r :'.\,fr. Crerar 
returned I Wa'> to prepare a rommuniration to be sent to you, expre,:,sing 
most strongly their rlesire that a s.pr<'iul audit of the bank's affairs­
touching e::;pecially the larger accounts in the Toronto Offire-Phould 
be directed by the Finance Department." 

There is a direct specific reque::it again from ::.\fr. Fi-:her to the Minister. 
They had ..,aj.Jeady sent one on the 22nd of ,January, 1916, they had sent the 
documents along with it, but nothing wa, being done up to this date, nothing 
effectual in their opinion. Mr. Fi::;her my::;, lte want,, something tlone. 

It is quite clear to me that they would not for a moment be content with an 
investigation to be conducted by the Bo:cird. "'ho is d,r-.irou,; of having it con­
ducted by the Board? Why, the Board it-'rlf, exrPpt Crerar, Pcr:::-:p and Kennedy. 
They do not w~nt it conducted by the Board. Thry art' a:,king the Minister of 
Finan<'e to conduct that investigation and to do his duty, and their Counsel is 
reiterating that reque,;t. On the 18th February he says to Sir Thomas White 
in words to this effect: I wrote you on the 22nd .January; a month ha:, elapsed; 

· I sent you all the documents bearing upon this matter; what have you done? 
That is the meaning of that letter, and he goes on and pointR out specifil·ally 
that it was derided that after Mr. Cr,erar returned I was to prrpare a communirii­
tion to be sent to you exprec::sing mo<.,t strongly the desire that a special awlit 
of the Bank's affairs, touching specially the larger accounts in the Toronto 
officr, should be directed by the Finance Department." 

Mr. SYMINGTON: I would like my learned friend to point out that tLat 
aroce from the wire subsequently sent by Mr. La,h. He sugge~tcd in his wire 
of the 15th an inc::ide audit. 

Mr. LEE: Y,es. Then we pa, 0 along to t.lie 21,,t. Exhibit 53; and Mr. 
Fi,,lwr writes Sir Thomas the letter of 21st FrLruary. If he ha,l not placed it 
stron~ly enough to Sir Thomas upon that occasion, he writes him this letter an<l 
he marks it "Personal."• 

• 
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"I wrote you on the 18th inst. in this matter, and Mr. Crerar having 

now returned I have gone into the matter with the three ·western members 
of the Board, and am writing this further letter upon their instructions. 
They very decidedly approve the view expre~..;ed in Mr. Lash's telegram 
referred to in my letter, to the effect that a full investigation is required." 

They do not ask for one, two, three or four accounts in the Toronto office. 
They have never asked for one, two, three or four Toronto accounts, or these 
accounts to be investigated only . They have been continually calling out to 
Sir Thomas White all the time, we want this bank investigated under 56A of the 
Act. That is what they have been crying out for. And at this time, so that Sir 
Thomas will know what Mr. Fisher really means, he says:-

"This, of course, they understand to mean a full investigation of the 
bank's affairs generally, including the acts and conditions that have led 
to the present situation." 

Could Sir Thomas have wanted any larger or greater request to do his duty 
faithfully by the people of thi-, country than in that letter of February 21st, 
following up the letter of the 22nd January? And then they go on and they say 
at page 84, among other things:-

"My client,' anxiety, however, is about the handling of, and dealing 
with the present large accounts, and as to these the first requi:::;ite, in their 
judgment, is to get at the actual facts, and in their judgment tliis cannot 
be effectively done under an invC;stigation by the present Board." · 

That is, they are pointing out all'" the time, taking thosc-e two clauses, one 
in connection with the other. ,ve want no investigation from within, we want 
an independent inve,-,tigation from without; we want you, Sir Thomas, to have 
this investigation made, an independent audit, with which the Board will have 
nothing to do. Then if he can he will give him any further information, and 
desiring to cooperate with Sir Thomas he says at page 85:-

"I am al,,o 0nclosing copy of a marcantile agency report on the 
Fidelity Trust Company, whos-e paper was taken to cover the remainder 
of the Barnard account after the ~ettlement. From this you will see, 
amongst other things, that Mr. Barnard himself is a Director of this 
rompany, and its hffairs, you will see, are understood to be largely in the 
hands of his law firm. On the whole, it is the hope of my clients that 
you will be able to see your way to direct a full investigation by an 
auditor appointed by your Department." 

He do0s' not say an auditor appointed by Sir Thoma:::; White, in the bank; 
he says an auditor appointed by your Department. That is what he says in 
that communication at pag,e 85. And there is not up to the present moment, 
one tittle of request from Mr. Fisher or his ai;"ociates, Col. Mason or anybody 
else, that t~ey want an investigation by the man whom Machaffie described 
afterwards in hi9 sworn testimony, as a man who was not a chartered accountant. 
But let us pass on. He had before him also this mercantile report, whirh was in 
full, and if he had read that at all, he::--would see that the Fidelity Trust Company 
with which Barnard wa1, connected, was an incorporation with an authorized 
capital of $500,000 in shares of $100. And among other things he would see in 
that report:-

"The parties originally int,erested eventually withdrew from the 
concern, and they have practically been doing little of anything for :::;ome 
little time past, their affairs for some time is understood to have hem 
largely in the hands o~ K. C. E. Barnard and W. H. McK-eown, of the legal 
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firm of Barnard & McKeown these partirs being con,-;idered to hold the 
bulk of the stork. Several efforts have been made to interview the parties 
interested, but without success, and the office is practically clo~ed, there 
being very little indication of b~,-,inei;,; activity in their premisl'S." 

That alrn should have been a danger signal to Sir Thoma:<, that Barnard's 
arrount wa:i not in any too good shape, an!l he had better· look out for that 
account among the others and should h:we been a further indication to him 
to do what l\Ir. Fioher reque1:,ted h;m in hi:-; lPttn of the 21~t, by having an 
auditor appointed either by his own Department, from within his own Depart­
ment, or an oubide in<ll'pendent auditor. There wa:- no requc,-t at this time 
that the bank's own auditor should make any investigation. 

Tl11~n Sir Thomas writPs the letter to Mr. Fisher of the 2bt of February, 
Exhibit No. 54, and he says to him, among other things:-

" The po,;ition I have taken with Mr. Lash is that I desire the sbtment 
which I have asked for on the complaint lodged hy you on behalf of 
the ,ve~tern Directors." 

I might point out tu y:our lordship that he u::es the word " complaint." 
Now in busine:-f' correspondence, e-;pccially in mercantile circlco, unless :::ir 
Thomas considered the ,e matters of a very ~erious nature, I don't think he 
would have used the word " complaint." I am jm,t calling that to your lord­
i;hip's att {'ntion. 

" It does not, appear to me· that I would be justified in foregoing my 
reque,t for rnrh information on the ground that the Board i:5 now in 
harmony. You make certain definite explicit charges whieh I corn·eived 
it my duty to im·c~tigate. ,vhC'n I n,ceived the report in trose matter::­
from the Homo B:rnk or Mr. La-,h, I Hhall have to <let.nmine thC' 1·uun:E' 
proper for me to take." ' 

I think it is onlv fair to read t!1e whole of the lcttl"r now. I 4ad not 
intended to. • 

"My rlutv of cour:-P li1•1,, to the public, and in view of the ,-rrious 
chargPs whirh you made I frel I cannot allow the matter to remain in 
abeynnre. At the same time it will and should be my policy to give the 
reorganized Board of ).fanagcment every opportunity to place the 
admini.stration upon a :;:ound basis provided th:1t in my judgment this 
i:5 pussible." 

Then we pas.:; to Exhibit 55, a lrttcr to ::½r. Fi,.:lier. Sir Tiiomas know:; 
at thi:; time thut po,it:on i:; a very rlelil'ate one and l:e i'UY"" among:,t other 
thing:i, at pag_<' 87 :~ 

"You will, I ~•.m .-ure, under,-ti,nd that the ~itnution i-.; a rathC'r 
delir:ite one and that it is important not to make a mi:-t.ake in judgment 
either on the one si«:iC' or on tLP othrr. If the bank i-.; sound it would 
be advisable in the public intt-re:,t that it should be allowed to con­
tinue in busme~s." 

I draw your lord~hip'~ attention to that clause. 

" If, on the other hand, it i:5 not solvent, the question arise:' a:i to 
allowing it to continue." 

Now at thi:, point if we are rle'3irou,; of a:c>certaining where the mind of 
6ir Thoma,;; White had arri verl., "'e may -ay th:1t he wus like a man sitting 
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on a fence; he had a leg on one side of the fenre and a leg on the other side and 
he did not know which way to jump; but his cluty wa:; plain, on the one hand to 
the public of Canada, and on the othn to the bank; he did not want to do an 
injw~tice; how could he have found out the roure to take? It was simple. He had powersi·under $crtion 56A of the Act. Gentlemen who were Directors 
on the Board of this bank had made charges; he admitted himself that they were charge~. Any sane man in business, in my opinion, at this stage of the 
proceedings would have said: " There is only one safe and sane course for me; I see the light in the distanre; I will follow that light and that light will lead 
me to do my duty by the people of Canada, and that is to make a thorough investigation of the affairs of this bank; I will have nothing to do with the 
mrmbers of the Board, I will not pay any attention to Brigadier General Mason; I will pay no more attention to any of these gentlemen; if my duty point':l me there, I will do it." Did he do it? 

Then we arrive at the next letter, Exhibit No. 59,' appearing at pal'"e 87; written by Sir Thomas White to Mr. Lash. Sir Thomas is getting more and more c;u~picious of the condition-, and he say:-- among ·other things, about the fifth line from the bottom:-
" I hardly think I should be w:1rrented in relying upon the report 

brought back by Mc~~rs. Haney and Crerar from British Columbia." 
Why? Might be asked. Up to this time-as Sir Thomas admits in the 

witnc::'-- box-he had the best ideas of Mr. Crerar and he believrd that Mr. Haney ww; the essencr of a good businr~s man. But on February 24th, 1916, Sir Thomas ~ay~, although they are both good business men·, that he ha::1 very 
little idra about their opinions and he say::\ " I hardly think I :,hould be warranted in relying upon their report." 

:'\Ir. SYMINGTo-.. t I think my friend is ronstruing that letter wrongly. He should read the first part of it. 
Mr. LEE: I will do ::io. 

' "I have re< r>ived thi:; morning a letter dated February 21st from ~fr. Jame:; Fishrr, KC., of ·whirh he inform-, me he_• h;ts ::3cnt you a ropy. 
In view of the opini!'n whirh thc:,c rlicnt~ evidently entertain, a,- to the 

· larger aPrnunts of the bank and their want of confidence in the Board 
and Management u::1 at present ronstituted, it would appear to me that 
I would only be justified in allowing a reasonable time for the bank to 
perfect its security and improve its po,;ition under the arcounts about 
whirh I made enquiry. I hardly think I ,;hould be warranted in relying 
upon the report brought back by ~•Ie"~rs. Hanry and Crerar from Brifo-h 
C0lumbia. I a>-sure you I do not de::;ire to take any r~sh step whieh might • have a i,Prious pffcrt both upon the bank and the general finanrial situation, but on the otl-1tr hand, I mw;t protcrt the publir interest. I 
therefore feel that I mu"t at an early date draw the matter to the attention of the Pre-.;idrnt of the Canadian Banker's A--ioe;iation W!th the reque!:it 
tlu.t the position of the bank be invc,,tigatrd. H would appear to me that tlw Banker's As,-or.iution rould do this very throughly and much 
more etfiric,ntly than any auditor I ·could appoint or any official I could name for the purpo:;e." 

Hi,- mind at that time had arrived at the point where he say,, to himself, I have no eonfidrnce in Haney or in Crerar's report. ls not that what he says now, l\Ir. Symington, on rc'ading the whole letter? 
Mr. SnnNG'l'ON: No, the report had not been made. · 
Mr. LFE: He says, I have no confidenre in any report they may bring me, no matter how good. 

• • 
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Mr. SYMINGTON: :N"o, he refers to ~1r. Fi,-her's letter of the 21st, in which he 
say:,; he wants all the account:; before him. 

Mr. LEE: Do not let us get into an argument about it. It speaks for itself 
it seems to me. "I hardly think I should be warranted i~ relying upon the report 
brought bark by Messrs Haney and Crerar from Briti;:;h Columbia." They had 
only gone out there for enc purpose. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: I don't think they had even gone yet. They certainly had 
not got back. 

Mr. LEE: Then that is all the worse. He has no confidence in them going 
out to British Columbia. He does not care whether they go or not, that is 
not going to stop $ir Thomas in the path of public duty. He says, It matters not 
whether they go to British Columbia or not; it matters not whether they come 
bark from British Columbia or not; that report they will bring back will not 
alter my decision, which i-, that in my best judgment the Canadian Bankers' 
As:;ociation, in whom I have confidence, ,,hould make the report I require. Is 
not that the position? It is as far as I ,-ee it, on the 24th February, 1916. Then 
on the same day Mr. Fi:,;her write-, to Sir Thomas White in Exhibit 57, and he 
states, toward the end of the page:-

"He explained certain steps that he, in conjunction with Mr. Lash, 
had already taken looking to that end, and my clients wholly approve 
thereof." 

The reference there is to Mr. Haney. 
' 

"Aftrrwards I wrot,\ to Mr. Lash in reference to the conference and 
in order that you may know fully the general attitude of my clients, I 
quote from that letter as follows:-

"My dientR having presented tlteir view very fully and very 
frankly to the Finance Mini,-ti•r and to yourf'elf as Chief Coun::;el of 
the Bank, are entirely sati,-firJ to leave the matter in his hands and 
yours to deride what action will be taken. No one connrded with 
the bank can more earne-tly or -:im,·rt·ly than they do, desire that 
any action taken will lead to a betterment of existing conditions." 

Now Mr. Fi"her ,-ays, I throw from my shoulders all re::;pon,-abiEty a,.; to 
what becomes of thiR bank in the future, un behalf of my clients. That is what 
I am bking that to mean. "If you only usrnme the re::;pomibility with Mr. 
Lash." And Sir Thomas due;, not assume it., He cannot get away from it. 

It is like the Irit--lunan and the bear. He had been grabbrd by a bear and his 
brother, lipeaking to him, said:-

"What's the matter?" 
"A wild animal ha,, gut me." 
"Hould on, hould on a bit" 
"Begorra, I can't let go." 

I 

Then says the brother: 
The victim says: 

He could not get away from him. And Sir Thomas was in that position; he 
could not get away from it either; he had to do hi-1 duty, for he rnw his duty, he 
was beginning to have light; he had not confidr.nce in the management; he had 
not confidence in Haney's report, or in any report that Crerar might bring 
bark from Briti,,h Columbia, and the consequence was, he says to himself: 
"The Banker_, Afo~ociation for me; they will do what is fair and honest and 
square and upwright by the general public of Canada; they are the best people 
to make this investigation." And it seems one great. pity that his mind was ever 
changed after that letter to Mr. Lash on the 24th February. 

.. 
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Then we pass on to Exhibit No. 59. Sir Thomas there writes to Jones a most 
loving lrtter. He says to Jones "I shall be glad if you will send me as soon as 
possible a detailed statement showing advances repayments and inter~t charges 
on the A. C. Frost Company account." 

They were not asking for the A. C. Frost Company account. They were 
asking for a full investigation of the affairs of this bank; and not by Mr. Jones. 
Remember that the last thing from Sir Thomas White on February 24th ,is: 
"It wpuld appear to me that the Bankers' Association could do this very 
thoroughly." And on the very same day he writes to Mr. Jone,i asking him for 
a report. Jones answers him on the 26th and on the 1st March, Exhibit No. 61, 
he sends Sir Thomas White a statement of the Frost account. 

Now Sir J'homas White was a man long associated with fi11:,nrial nrnttPr,-; 
he had been associated wit~ a trust company for many year::,; and a g,bnce at 
that account of Frost',, would have shown him its condition. In a very short 
time he would have seen that in 1915 there had been credits of interest ·and the 
intere13t had not actually Leen paid, but that it had been credited as if it had 
been paid. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: It is quite the opposite. Charged up. 
Mr. LEr;: I should say, charged up. And the consequence would have 

been, when he had seen that, that his mind would have been in a position to say: 
Here is a bank with a lot of frozen a,:sets, I think that my duty is plain to the 
people of this country. But his mind seems to h:.we suddenly gone wrong. He 
had made up his mind on the 24th of February that the Bankers' Association 
were the only people. Now let us see if I can explain why he changed. But 
before doing that I would like to refer to this statement that he got from Cooper 
Ylason on that very same day, in reference to the Pellatt account. He saw that 
Pellatt owed $2,072,000 to this bank. No, at the outbreak of the war it amounted 
to $2,072,000; and now it amounts at this stage to $2,185,000. It was going 
up. $182,000 in that time. And then he might have lookrd at Pellatt's account 
of call loans and if he had looked there he would have seen 4,995 shares of City 
Estates. And what did that mean? That meant a lot of pieces of paper, pos­
i;;ibly, printed on a printing pre::<::,, with a seal attached to them. Land bought 
at so much per acre, subdivided and t.o be sold at so much per foot. Sir Thomas 
had a large experience in these matters himself, and if he had looked further 
down he would have seen, 2,000 shares of the Page Ht>rt-ey Company; a manu­
facturing industry .in the city of Toronto, starting into bu'3ine::;s, to-day doing 
a very splendid busine::,-,; at that time a very young ,.company. He would also 
have seen 755 shares of Steel and Radiation Preferred; and Sir Thoma;: with 
the wide knowledge of banking that he had, and knowing the Steel Radiation 
Company as he did, he would have put his finger immediately upon that and 
said: That stock is no good, or it is very little better. And then he would find 
1,257 shares of Steel Radiation Common, and he woulct have said to himself: 
Why, $1,473,000 and here are 1,308 shares of Wc~tern Assurance Company• at 
$20. He would have known better than that. His intelligence ought to have 
taught hint better than that. I am not a banker; I have newr had any banking 
experience; but my knowledge of gent>ral busine,-;; in the city of Toronto has 
taught me that these were fictitious values at that time put upon those stocks; 
and Sir Thomas; if he had looked at them closely, or had he made any examina­
tion of those stock,,, would haYe -een that fictitious valut>~ were being placed 
by somebody. Who was that i;,omebody? It was either one of two people. It 
was either Mr. Pellatt or his friend Genernl Ma"!on. 

His LORDSHIP: We shall take recess here until half-past two. 
Mr. LEg: If your lordship Will permit me, so that I may not forget it? 

79220-3 
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I put in now a list of the Directors of the Home Bank from 1905. 

EXHIBIT No. 178. 

Filed by Mr. Lee, May 15, 1924. 

List of Directors of Home Bank from 1905. 

Proceeding" stand adjourned at 1 p.m. Wednesday, 15th May, 1924, until 
2.30 p.m. 

AFTERNOON SESSION 

OTTAWA, ONT., THURSDAY, MAY 15, 1924 

PROCEEDINGS RESUMED AT 2.30 P.M. 

ARGUMENT BY ,v. T. LEE, Ra,l·:-.rnD 

Mr. LEE: When we adjourned for lunch, my lord, I was commenting on 
the statement presented to Sir Thomas WhitB, at page 95, in reference to 
:-ome of the,:e securities, which are, there set out, totalling $1,473,751. 

A de:,cription also is given of the properties covered by this loan, and, 
so far as I have seen in the evidence, there were no valuations ever made 
of any of these properties, particularly a~ we have it here. J· have not been 
able to see anything, except that the Home Land and Securities Company 
owed $145,000, and as well as to the Home B~tnk, $297,000, and that the 
Toronto City Estatrs had agreement,- and mortgages of sale to the extent of 
$985,576, and that they owed, in all, about a million dollars, including the 
Home Bank. 

So far ,as I have been able to see from the evidence, Sir Thomas at thut 
time made no investigation whatever to ascertain whether the v,aluation put 
upon these properties was a valuation which he could reasonably take, having 
regard to the various statements that had already been mr..<le to him by the 
officer~ of the Bank. 

Then we ,pass on to Exhibit No. 66, page 158, and there we have a letter 
written away back on the 4th of January, prior to Mr. Fisher making his 
statement to the !Ionou~'ble Minister, in which the Provincial Secretary 
of New Brun-,wick in writing a letter to the· Honourable l\Iini,.:tcr a:-ks him, 
in confidenee, for his opinion as to the stability of the Home Bank of Toronto. 

N"ow, apparently, at thi,;: time the l\Enister does not write a letter unless 
he has some reasons for writing, and there was a danger ~ignal thrown out 
to Sir Thomas by re-criving a letter from another Government asking about 
the stability of this bank, and the letter reads: 

"I would beg to ask you confidentially for your opinion on the 
stability of the Home Bank of Toronto. They have $300,000 of the 
moneys of the Province of New Brunswick, being proceeds from the 
sale of the Bonds of the St. John Valley Railway Company. This money 
they have inve<Jted for the Prudential Trust Company, the Trustee~ 
for the Bondholders. 

"The Home Bank is now being asked by the Prudential Trust 
Company to return the said moneys to them, and the Bank _is a13king 
whether we want the money returned to us or the Prudential Trust 
Company. The Government, before giving an official answer, would 
wish to ascertain the stJrubil1ity of the Home Bank." 

• 
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The receipt of that letter, I would suggest, sir, would, in most minds, have 
produced a feeling that in other quarters of Canada other people, and other 
corporations, were beginning to~ wonder as to the stability of this bank, and . 
this is the reply. Of course I might point out to you, in all deference to the 
Honourable Minister, that this reply was written fifteen days before the receipt 
of the Fisher communication. 

Sir Thomas said to Mr. Landry: 

"I beg t-0 acknowledge receipt of yours of the 4th instant enquiring 
as to the financial posrition of the Home Bank of Canada. While this 
Bank is not ,an institution of lavge 'resources a.:l ,compared witJh some 
other Canadri'an !banks nothing has been brought to my attention which 
would cause me to doubt its stabillity. I do not feel, -however, ,that I 
can pa:;s an authorative opinion upon the financial position of any bank 
as so much depends upon the quality of its discounts and investments 
which are not given in detail in the returns under the Bank Act. If you 
entertain any doubt whatever as to the safety of a Government deposit 
it might be well to distribute it." 

It was an exceedingly careful answer, and came from a very conservative 
mind, when he says, don't put aU your eggs in one basket but put them in 
three or four. 

And then we come along to the 14th of February, when he receives from 
Exhibit 51, which I th:ink I have already quoted to you. 

An then we come along to the 14th of February, when he receives from 
Mr. La,:.h an important communication. That is, Exhibit No. 70, and in that 
communication Mr. Lash said, among other things, l1ine 4: 

"I am writing you privately because I want to tell you frankly 
what the present position is and I do not know how much of this inform­
ation you would like to make official. If you want any of it repeated 
in an official form let me know and I will write you officially. Quite 
recently the Home Bank lhac; been consulting myself and Mr. Anglin 
a/bout some of the complicated accounts, etc.-" 

And then pas,:.ing on, at page 161, he says: 

"Some little time ago I formed the opinion t:hat until a full invest­
igation into the values· of the bank's assets and into their liquid and 
tied up position was made nobody could form an intelligent opinion as 
to the course which tlhe bank should pursue with reference to the big 
accounts referred to or with reference to the more important matter of 
its going on in busine,;,;. I have no opinion upon the latter question 
'because no oipinion can be formed without the information referred to. 
I became satisfied some time ago. that the General management was 
woefully defective but of course I could not express any opinion upon 
tJhis to the General Manager himself who came to consult me. I learned 
privately from Mr. Fis'har when he ·was he~e that the \Yinnipeg Dir~ct­
ors were unable to obtain from the management sufficient mformat10n 
to enwble them to judge as, to the accounts referred to or i:ts to the 
general position of the bank and tJhat they had" appealed to ybu to call 
for special returns about the three accounts." . 

Now this statement is not consistent, I submit, with all the correspond­
ence wni~h had gone on. I am at a lo,:.s to understand this letter, because they 
did not ask, as I understand the evide:qce; for any special returns, but what 

79220-3½ 
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they were asking, and what they continul'<l to a"k, and what they have been 

asking up to this present time from Sir Thomas, first, it was that they wanted 

a full investigation of all the affairs of tlhe bank, and they wanted an audit 

unrler Section 56A of the Act, and, up to this letter, I do not remember any 

position which they have taken which was in contradiction of that position 

until this letter wa::; receivrd of tJhe 14th of February by Sir Thomas White at 

the instance of the bank's own general counsel. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Mr. Lee, would you mind pointing out where they asked 

for the general invrstigation, prior to this date? You sec, this is the 14th of 

February which antrdates those letters from Mr. Fi,:her. 

Mr. LEE: In the first communication from Fi.,:hcr which was the 22nd of 

January. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: They do not say what they ask for in that communieation. 

Mr. LEE: What is the number of that? 

Mr. SYMINGTON: The number of the first memorandum is Exhibit 5. 

Mr. LAFLF.rR: There is Exhibit 3, of rourse. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Ye~, but the general memorandum is ~ o. 5. 

Mr. BROWNING: Page 17. 
Mr. LEE: Certain information was given at that meeting which, however, 

the Western members of the Board were not by any means satisfied with, as he 

says in the letter of February 17th, 1915, addressed by the 1N e3tcrn members to 

Mr. Macdonnell, and the same matters were further discussed at a meeting held 

in the end of D{lcember. 
Further down in that letter: 

"We protested against the failure to have a regular inspection, and 

at a subsequent meeting an inspection was directed to be made by Mr. 

Adair, the Bank's Supervirnr." 

Mr. SYMINGTON: What I was trying to point out, Mr. Lee, is, that this is 

the first lettrr I have been able to find in which the question aric,es as to what the 

Vil estcrn Directors had asked for. 
• Mr. LEE: Probably I will get to it in a minute. Then Mr. Lash's letter 

continues, page 161: 

"I have no opinion upon the latter question because no opinion can 

be formed without the information reicrred to. I became satisfied some 

time ago that the General management was woefully defective but of 

course I coul(i not expre,;s any opinion upon thiA to the General Manager 

himself who came to consult me." 

I have already read that to your lordship, I think. 
Then it goes on: 

"I expressed to Mr. Fisher my opinion about tJhe management, and 

told him that unless new management was introduced the po:iition of 

the Bank would, I thought, become more complicated and might become 

hopeless." 

And then further down he says: 

".From what I know of the three accounts referred to, the fulle:;t 

statements re-,,pecting them which could be sent to you would not advance 

the situation very far in your mind. You would have to go deeper and 

inquire into the whole position." 

Now, that is what I probably had in mind. 



HOJJE BANK OF CANADA 665 

"They sent me the statements respecting these accounts but I have 
told them that if you were assured by the Winnipeg Directors who asked 
you to act that they were getting all the information you asked for and 
a great deal more, and that they would like you to afford the opportunity 
of completing the invei;;tigation, and that the whole Board was now in 
accord, and that new management was going to be introduced at the 
earliest possible moment, I felt satisfied that you would prefer not to have 
the statements sent to you in the meantime." 

Then he goes on: 

"They would only embarrass you because you could form no opinion 
as to your duty without further investigation and that you would have to 
decide what sort of further invest.igation should take place." 

And then further down he says: 

"I have theref.ore taken the responsibility of retaining the statements 
until I get an intimation from you as to whether you are satisfied to leave 
the position ai, it is for the present if the Winnipeg Directors request you to 
do so or whether you still want the statements." 

Now in this letter is the first intimation of the dominant mind over Sir 
Thomas White: He is putting into the mind of Sir Thomas White, as counsel for 
the bank-because he was acting always for the bank and never for the Govern­
ment-this, please don't call for a full investigation; would it not be wiser if I 
retained these statements, and if I could get the Winnipeg Directors to withdraw 
the statements made to you in the Fisher communication of January 22nd, why, 
everything would be lovely, and everything will be rosy. So that he suggests to 
Sir ThomaR White the idea that this thing cannot be carried on, and then he goes 
on to say: · 

"If the former, I shall continue my efforb to secure a new Manager, 
and, so far as I can do so, I shall see that the position of the Bank is not 
made worse; if the latter, then I will send you the statements. Mr. Haney 
wrote the Winnipeg Directors last Thursday advising them •to tell you 
that the Board was now unanimous and that they would like you to sues­
pend action on their request." 

This is the first intimation that Sir Thomas gets to withhold his hand. 

"I think you will probably hear from them in a 'day or so. The 
Board seems inclined to rely very much· upon my advice and I am in 
such relations with them that I can volunteer advice and if you would 
like me to advise any particular course, of course I shall be glad to .be 
so informed." 

Of course, he says there "if•you would like to advise me of any particular 
course," but he sugge:,;ted what shall be, that is, Mr. Lash suggested to Sir 
Thomas what the course shall be. Instead of Sir ThoIIlJl,s dictating to Mr. 
Lash what, that course shall be, J\1r. Lash was suggesting to Sir Thomas what 
the course shall be. 

Then we pass on, and on the 17th of February, Sir -Thomas White writes 
to Mr. Lash, and among other things he says. 

"The position is that I have been made aware by the Winnipeg 
directors of a certain condition which is most disturbing. It does not 
appear to me that I would be justified in staying inquiry because the 
Winnipeg directors may ask me to suspend action. The real question 
is whether the bank, having regard to the condition which will be dis-

a 
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closed by the statements, should be allowed to continue busine:ss with 
the public. I shall be glad, therefore, if you will send me the state­
ments." 

Then we pa1:,,, on until we get to the 29th of February, 1916, Exhibit 72, 
page 163. Here we have a confidential rommunicution sent by Mr. Lash. ~ow 
Mr. Lash has sug11;e,;tecl in that former communicati:on which I have just read 
as to what Sir Thoma:-; White's policy should be, I take it, and them in this 
confidentJial letter of the 29th February, 1916, about midway down the page, 163, 
he says:- ' 

"In my interview with you in Ottawa on the 22nd, I expre::.sed my 
personal opinion as to the general position." 

What does he mean by his "personal opinion"? Had he two opinions on 
the matter, one for the bank and one of his own, one to suit his clients, and 
one for somebody else? I have read that two or three times and I cannot 
fathom what he means. Continuing: 

" and I said that my main object was, to so manage matters that if the 
Bank had to liquidate, the liquidation might be with open doors." 

Now, here is a statement of opinion from the bank's own counsel, a second 
real danger signal to Sir Thomas. This"is the first intimation, I think, coming 
from the bank's counsel, that they would have to liquidate. Sir Thomas is 
warned about the sc,riousness of the condition of this bank at that time, and Mr. Lash in his letter, goes on to say:-

" This can only be accomplished with the assistance of other banks. 
"Personally, I have given up hope of being able to secure a compe­

tent person who could undertake the general .management, without fir:-;t 
fully investiga.ting the position." 

It is not the three accounts that he speaks about in a former communira­
cation, but fully investigating the whole position of the bank. He is pointing 
that out again to Sir Thomas, and apparently he has ra.ther changed his ideas 
from the 14th of February up to the 29th of February. 

Then the letter continues: 
" I have always thought that the investigation should be by an out-

side competent person." · 
That is what the bank says, a very fair statement from the counsel of the 

bank who was supposed to know more about t.he affairs than Sir Thomas White 
at that time, and he points out to the Minister: 

" that the inve:,;tigation should be by an outside competent person who 
would be quite free from any interference by the present management or 
Board." 

And then if Sir Thomas White did not know his duty, which he did, he 
points out to him: -

" The best coun-e may be to consult the Bankers" Association with 
reference to the pers()IIl who is to make the investigation, as it might be 
important that the Association s'hould feel able to rely upon his report, 
if their assistance were asked, instead of having to get a further report 
from their own nominee." 

That is the situation on the 29th of February, but there was a communi­
cation that he had in his mind before writing that letter, and it was a com­
munication from Mr. Fisher, dated the 23rd of February, 1916, as set out -at 
page 164, and he said, among other things, the fourth line: 
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" In our conference we di~ru,H.'<l the present situation somewhat 
fully, and I read to Mr. Haney the two letters I had written to the 
Finance ~Iinister, as well as my letter of the 18th to yourself. Mr. Haney, 
I find, appears to be under the impression that a special audit under the 
direction of the Finance Minister might tend to bring about a crisis in 
the affairs of the Bank. Certainly neither my clients or I have had nor 
have we the slightest idea that such an audit would tend to such a result. 

"They still hold to the view that, as expressed in your own tele­
gram of the 14th, a full investigation is required, and they still hold the 
view that under existing circumstances an investigation by the present 
Board would not be satisfactory.'' 

Now, Mr. La:;h, at the time he received that, before he wrote the letter of 
the 29th to Sir Thomas White, knew perfectly well that Mr. Fisher, acting for 
the western Directors, had not withdrawn one iota from his former communica­
tion. The Western Dire'ctors had not receded one bit from the position which 
they had occupied from the beginning up to the present moment, and that was: 

" They still hold to the view that, as expressed in your own telegram 
of the 14th, a full investigation is required.'' 

And they also mention that:-

" Under existing circumstances an inv~stigation by the present Board 
would not be satisfactory." 

And they go on further to say:-

" My clients, however, having presented their views very fully and 
very frankly to the Finance Minister and to yourself as chief counsel of 
the Bank, are entirely satisfied to leave the matter in his hands and yours 
to decide what action will be taken. No one connected with the Bank 
c~n more earnestly or sineerely than they do desire that any action taken 
will lead to a betterment of existing conditions. 

" I am not sending a copy of this letter to the Finance Minister, as 
I take it there is no occasion to say anything further to him, but, of 
course, I have no objection to your showing him this communication, 
and I hope you will discuss the matter fully with him." 

Permission is given by Mr. Fisher to show the Finance Minister this, and 
from all the information I can get, I have no doubt the Finance Minister saw 
that communication. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: It is enclosed in this letter. 
Mr. LEE: It was enclosed in this letter of the 29th instant. 
Mr. McLACGHLIN: It was produced by Mr. Roberts off his file. 
Mr. LEE: So that, at that period of time, on the 29th Thbruary the Finance 

Minister knew 'that they had not receded from the position which they had 
taken up all the time, and that it was not until the receipt of Mr. Lash's com­
munication enclosing that that any change in position might have arisen in the 
mind of the Finance Minister at all. 

On the 1st of March, he writes to Mr. Lash this letter:-

" I have yours of the 29th ultimo. My view is that I should in the 
near future consult the President of the Canadian Bankers' Association 
with m,pect to the affairs of the B~nk.'' 

So that we have, up to that date, traced what his mind is, so far as it is put 
down on paper. . . 

And then on the 2nd of March Mr. Lash rephes to him:-
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" I had a talk with General Mason yesterday and from what he 
said about the timhcr property in Brifr,h Columbia, I think that it would 
be wise to await Mr. Haney's return before speaking to the President of 
the Bankers' Association, unles8, of course, something should intervene 
which should make it nece1,sary in the meantime." 

Now between the letter of February 29th where he states, " I have always 
thought that the investigation should be by an out-;ide compe_tent per,-,on,'' and 
the lPtter of the 2nd of March in which he f'ays not to spPak to thP President of 
the Bankers' As~ociation, what caused the change in the situation? I am trying 
to decipher what went on. Haney has not come back, he has not returned. 
Apparently he ha::; changed his mind somewhat. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: You will find that Sir Thomas \Vhite rngge:sts that him-
self to Mr. Lash. 

Mr. LEi.:: Mr Lash is not suggesting it. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: No, Sir Thomas suggests it to Mr. Lash. 
Mr. LEE: I am saying Mr. Laf<h's mind has changrd f'ince the 29th of Feb­

ruary. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: Well, but Sir Thomas, on March 1st, suggP::;b; that to 

Mr. Lash. 
Mr. LEE: Quite ::;o, but Mr. Lash says, in his communication of February 

29th, " I have always thought that th,e investigation should be by an out~idc 
competent pen;on," and in Fi::;her's letter he already had that before him. 

Then we get down to Fixl1ibit 76, a letter dated ~Iarct 9th, from Mr. Fisher 
to Sir Thoma:; White, in which he says:-

" I quite realize the delicacy of the situation and how important it 
is to avoid a mistake in judgment one way or the other. I can but repeat 
that my clients are entirely satisfied that the matter is in good hand:-_ 
when Me::;srs. Lash & Anglin are now the solicitors of the Bank. 

" A.,, to the special information that my client.::; have touching the 
Frost account, it is not so much with respect to the amount of the account 
but as to the circumstances under which the advances were made." 

And then we get the communication of the 20th of March, Exhibit No. 79, 
page 169, and in this communication the process is proceeding, from Mr. Lash's 
to Sir Thoma-, White's mind, so far as I can gather, and Mr. Lash says, among 
other things:-

" Mr. Haney was appointed Vice-President, with the de facto posi­
tion of President." 

Then further on in the letter:-

" Mr. Machaffie, the Manager of the Winnipeg branch, in whom Mr. 
Haney and Mr. Crerar have great confidence, will come to Toronto at 
once (he has been wired for) to assist Mr. Haney in investigating the 
general position and Mr. Haney will employ such outside assistance as 
may be required." 

There is the first suggc:;tion from Mr. La::;h after he receives the letter of 
Sir Thomas White dated March 1st, that instead of an outside independent 
investigation, or 'by the Canadian Bankers' Association, it should be from the 
inside, because he goes on to de~cribe, and say:-

' " Mr. Machaffie is an old Bank Manager and was trained in the 
Merchants Bank and Bank of British North America. He has been 
with the Home Bank about 7 years I think and most of the time in 
Winnipeg." 

, 
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And then he sets out the reasons, clause 5:-

" The Board desire an opportunity of goi~g on with the business­
strengthenin~ other accounts and :straightening out tangles and it was 
with that in view that we came here to-day in order to explain the whole 
position to you and to ask you to give them this opportunity, by refrain­
ing for a while longer from asking the Bankers' Association or other 
ouhide authority to interfere. We would etay over to-morrow and 
explain things but unfortunately Mr. Crerar must be in Winnipeg on 
Wednesday and I must be in Toronto to-morrow. I would like Mr. 
Crerar to be pm;ent with me when I see you in order that he may assure 
you, as he has a,;sured me, that he is quite satisfied now and that Mr. 
Haney has the full confidence of the Winnipeg Directors." 

That wa-, not the principal thing in this matter. Mr. Haney's conduct was 
not particularly at stake. ~fr. Haney had not been the Manager of this inRtii.­
tution, and had only been in an executive position a very short time. The 
whole quc,:tion here was that Sir Thomas should have bel'n guided in watching 
the situation of whether that inve'3tigation should take place, the manner in 
which it should take place, the method by which it should be made, and to see 
that that investigation, if it was an investigation, should be such an investiga­
tion as he, as Finance Minister, having the matter in hand, and having the 
welfare of the depositors, and those whose moneys were in that bank at stake, 
should have bem well sati--fied with. 

And he go1s on to say:-

" I feel quite satisfied myself tpat the public intere,st will be served 
by the opportunity asked for being given"-

Now, he ha:; changed his whole tune from that letter which I have already 
quoted to you in the Fisher communication of February 23rd, and which was 
followed up by the L1sh letter, Exhibit 72, of February 29th, so that when we 
arrive at the state of mind of Mr. White on the 20th of March we only can 
ascertain it in this way. , 

And then on the 20th of March we also find a letter from Mr. Crerar. Mr. 
Crerar writes this letter to Sir Thomas dated 20th March, 1916, Exhibit No. 
81:-. . 

" You will also have learned of the change made at the recent meet­
ing of the Board held in Toronto a few days ago, whereby the active 
management of affairs is placed in entirely new hands through Mr. Haney 
taking the Vice-Presidency, and assuming direct, executive control, with 
Mr. Machaffie, the Manager in Winnipeg, whom, for the time being at 
least, he is 'bringing to Toronto to assist him. By this arrangement I 
feel quite certain that the knowledge and information concerning the 
position of affairs desired by the Western Members of the Board, and 
also the changes they de'3ired when they directed their request to you, 
and which they saw no hope of securing through the then existing man­
agement, can now be satisfactorily obtained without calling in- outside 
a1:,::;istance." 

This is the first intimation, in any way, in which the position of the Wei-tern 
Directors has been changed. All along they have been crying out for a full 
investigation. All along they have been crying out for an outside investigation, 
and then on the 20th of March suddenly their whole position is changed, and 
Sir Thomas is written to, in these words:-

" Ih my opinion, the situation has materially improved within the 
past month, and, at this juncture with the chang!ls in management 
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recently made, it is better to have the enquiry proceed from within 
rather than from without.'' 

Then we turn to Exhibit No. 83, and there muy be some reasons disclosed 
in this communication of why any change should be made in the attitude of 
Sir Thomas White, because on the 23rd of March, 1916, Mr. Lash writes, which 
was concurred in by Mr. Haney, who wu:; then President of the institution, and 
he stated, at page 173 :-

" (c) Mr. Machaffie, Manager of the ·Winnipeg Branch, has been 
brought to Toronto to act as Mr. Haney's chief assistant. Mr. Machaffie 
is regarded as one of the ablest officers in the employment of the Bank. 
He is a trained banker, and before coming to the Home Bank, he was in 
the service of the Merchants Bank and the Bank of British North 
America. He is in no way re8ponsible for tl1e general manag<>ment in 
the past, and he has managed the business in Winnipeg satisfactorily. 
He has been with the Home Bank ~ix or sewn year::;. 

" (d) My firm have b.een appointed the general solicitors of the 
Bank, and I have agreed to act as general counsel, and give personal 
attention to the more important questions which are now on hand, and 
which may arise in the course of the reorganization." 

Then further down:-

" I lianded you yesterday a letter from Mr. Crerar supporting the 
request which I made to you on behalf of the Board, and I may now state, 
without hesitation, that Mr. •Haney and the three Winnipeg Directors 
are in entire accord, I believe the whole Board is now in accord. I. 
mention the Winnipeg Direetors and Mr. Haney specially, on account of 
their po:::ition, and the underf'tanding with the Board that the important 
affairn of the Bank will be under their guidance." 

Mr. Lash is pointing out that the management now of the bank is the mo~t 
important thing;. Heretofore, we have heard of two thing,:, that is, the man­
agement and the position of these accounts, and now the management is being 
thrown in the face of Sir Thomas and the accounts are abf'olutely being subordi­
nated. But,he goes on and he tells him what Mr. Haney is doing, in the 6th 
clause, and then in the 8th clam,e he says:-

" With a view to a:;certaining the actual position of the Bank, a 
thorough investigation will be made, under the directions of Mr. Haney 
and Mr. Machaffie." 

Now, this is the Board. The Board are telling Sir Thomas that_a thorough 
investigation will be made. The meaning I take out of that is that there will be 
an investigation of all of the accounb, not of the accounts over $25,000, not 
of the accounts over $10,000, but a most thorougli investigation will be made, 
and this is coneurred in by the President, and then he goes on to say:-

" The Board is of orinion that the result of this investigation will 
show that the capital of the Bank is intact, and that no lo,:s will be 
suffered by any of its depositors or creditors, provided that it is not com­
pellrd, by a run of depo,:itors, to close its doors." 

That claubc indicated to Sir Thomas White the position in Mr. Lash's mind 
at that time, the terrible seriousness of the condition of this bank, and if at any 
time suspicion should ,arise in his mind requiring tlhat an oubide competent 
investigation shoul? be made, it should have been when he read that statement. 
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His LORDSHIP: What is involved in that expression," the capital of the bank 
is intact", does he mean by that that after making provision for all its debts 
they still have sufficient money over and abm·e the deposits to repay the capital 
put in? 

Mr. LEE: I take it to mean that if all the liabilities of the bank were paid 
at that moment, the bank would still have its paid up capital. 

His LORDSHIP: On hand? 
Mr. LEE: On hand. 
His LORDSHIP: Not represented by investments such as the Frost loan? 
Mr. LEE: No, on hand, that is the meaning of the word" intact". But was 

that true in the light of these investigations? It certainly was not. 
His LORDSHIP: This is Mr. Lash's letter? 
Mr. LEE: Yes, it is _also the Board's letter, concurred in by Mr. Lash, or 

written by Mr. Lash and concurred in by the Board. 
::\fr. SYMINGTON: Concurred in by Mr. Haney. 
Mr. LEE: Well Mr. Haney for the Board, as Pre;;ident of the Board. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: He was not President nor was he concurring as President. 
Mr. LEE: He says he thanks Sir Thomas White on behalf of the Board of 

Directors. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: The evidence ha~ shown that in one instance one of the 

Directors ::mid he did not know they were suppo::;ed to take part in the important 
affairs of the bank. · 

Mr. LAFLEl:R: You mean the ,vestern Directors. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: And I doubt if the Eastern Directors did, barring Haney. 

After all, this is a confirmation of an interview, it is not a letter in the true sense 
of the word. 

::\1r. LEE: It is the official reeord bf what took place at the conference. I do 
not put it in for anything more or less, I place it there as showing what they 
agreed upon. 

· His LORDSHIP: Mr. Lash does not say he assenb; to that. " The ~oard is of 
opinion that the result of this investigation will show that the capital of the bank 
is intact." Mr. Lash does not subscribe to that. 

Mr. LEE: I take it when he signs this letter he does subscribe to that, he 
subscrib('s to the Board's opinion when he puts his pen to this letter, because he 
goes on and says further; "and tPiat no loss will be suffered by any of jts deposit­
ors or creditors, provided that it is not compelled, by a run of depos:itors, to close 
its doors." That is the only thing he exempts, if tJhere was a run on the bank the 
capital will not be intact. "The Board feels sttongly-" Mr. Lash. is writing 
for the Board:-

"The Board feels. strongly that if they are allowed to conduct this 
investigation from the in-,ide, instead of having it conducted by someone 
sent in at the instance of the Finance Department or the Canadian Bankers 
Association, nothing will happen which would cause u run by depositors, 
but that if tJhe investigation lbe conducted at the instance of any outside 
authority, the chances are that statements will be made and things will be 
said about the bank which will cause a run and which will force the bank 
to close its doors." 

He put::; two positions before the Minister. Mr. L~sh has thrown away all 
responsibility, he says, to use-vulgar parlance, "It is up to you now, Sir Thomas, 
to do with this bank what you see fit." And he goes on to say:-

" This opinion is not based upon any want of confidence -in anyone 
who may be sent, or upon any fear that such person would himself disclose 
the confidence entrusted to him, but experience has shown that no person 
.can be sent from the outside to investigate the affairs of a bank, without 



672 ROYAL CO.'vlMl::-.SWl'.-

it~ heroming known sooner or later that he has been :::ent from the out::;ide. 
This probably re~ult,:; from :::ome unguarded though innocent remark made 
by some monb<•r of the bank's own .,taff." 

That is to say, we h:we got your mind up to a certain point, Sir Thomas, 
and if we ran just draw it o\·er the brink we will bring you to the idea that 
what is in your mind sha-ll be renr,-ed, as to having an outside, compefrnt, inde­
pendent jnve"tigation, and give it to us from the inside. 

And Sir Thoma<; succumb::; to the luring bait, he rhange'l his opinion after 
that apparently. But not quickly. We go on and he ~ay,- in paragraph 12: 

'' ( 12) I think it will be evident to you that all the:ie matter:-; which 
I have referrrd to, and which still require attPntion, can be better attended 
to under the diredions of the present Board than under the directionti of 
a curator or liquidator, in fact it would be impossible for a rurator or a 
liquidator to bring any of them to an sucressful termination." 

In viC'w of that it is very hard for me to under,-tand the meaning of Mr. 
Lash's statement that the capital of the bank is intact, if he is also considering 
the faet that a Curator or liquidator should go in. Had Sir Thomati White been 
con:-idering at that interview of the 22nd the possibility of putting in a Curator? 
It would strike one that that had taken place. If it had not, why was it 
mentioned? This letter is a record from Mr. Lash,. concurred in by Mr. Haney 
who was pm,ent, 0f the position of this Board at that time. So if my deduction 
is correet Sir Tl.10rnati \Vhite was fully apprised at that interview of the 22nd 
of the dr ,perak ('onditiun of this bank, that they thrmselve,.; feared, notwith­
standing Mr. Lash ·ti sbtPment that the results of the. investigation will show 
that the capital o.f the bank is intact, that that would not be so. He goe::; on 
t.o t-ay:-

" (13) In view of the foregoing, q,nrl of the very different po~ition 
in which the management of the Bank now is, Mr. Haney and I, at our 
interview, asked you to refrain from any action which. rniµ;ht re:•ult in 
preventing the Board from carrying out their intention with re::;pcrt to 
improving the po'3ition of the Bank, so that it may be able to !!O on in 
business in ordinary couri,e, and we asrnrC'd you that you would be kept 
informed, from time to time, of the pro~ress made, and that the position 
of the Bank, after the investigation above referred to has been made, 
would be fully shown to you." 

Then.among other thing;; that Mr. •La::ih and Mr. Haney ,-tate:-

" (14) You informed us that you had given much thought to the 
position of the Home 'Bank i,inre Mr. Fisher had ealled upon you in 
reference thereto, that the public interef't must, at all time, be your guide 
in any decision which you might come to, and that in view of the t-1tate­
ments made to you by Mr. Haney and my.,elf, and of the statement.;; in 
a letter which I handed you from Mr. Crerar." 

You see apparently Mr. Crerar's handing him that letter at the instance 
of Mr. Haney had done the work and had a good deal to do with the change of 
position of Sir· Thomas White, together with Mr. Lash:-

/ 
"you thought it would be in the public interest to comply with our 

request, and that you would do so for the present, always reserving to 
your:;elf the fulle~t right to take any step, at any time, which you might 
think the public interest called for." 

.Now that is his mind on the 23rd of March. Let us trace what was done 
1fter that. 
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On the 25th March he writes to Mr. Lash, exhibit No. 84:-

"You r !early understand that I re;,erve to myself the fullest liberty 
to consult with the President of the Canadian Bankers Association or 
take any other step which I may deem to be in the public intere:,;t without 
further communication with Mr. Haney or yourself on the subject." 

He is begi'.rming to get away from the position he took, to accede to the 
request of Mr. Mr. Lash and Mr. Haney, but he is still reserving his rights to 
call in the Bankers Association. 

''I should like to have from you an as<-urance that interest upon the 
Frost account will not be taken into profit; distributed to shareholder:,; 
in the way of dividends." 

That was a very serious thing for Sir Thomas White, in my opinion. Sir 
Thomas knew ifat these profits had been taken in, previom, statements apparently 
gave him to under;-:tand that the profits were being padded. I do not think I am 
u,ing an expression which is incorrect when I ">ay that. 

"It would appear to me also that until the New Orleans situation is 
cleared it would be advisable to pursue a similar course respecting that 
acc·ount." 

So evidently he knew at that time that they had done the :;ame thing with 
the New Orleans account. 

Then Exhibit No. 86, on June 14th, 1916, Mr. Haney writes a letter to Sir 
Thomas ,Yhite, and among other things he t<peak:,; of "the Toronto matter", 
"the New Orleans matter" and "the British. Columbia matter". 

"our customer is paying interest in cash quarterly, and, while much 
of the debt may have to be carried until the termination of the war, it is, 
in the opinion of the Board, rea,:onably certain that no loss will acrrue to 
the bank." · 

He also points out:-

"On May 26th and 21th a full Board meeting was held and was 
marked by complete harmony throughout; all doubtful accounts were 
di:-cussed, and appropriations for loi-ses made; the aggregate of these 
appropriations, together with a considerable sum for good measure, is 
being transferred from Rest account." 

His LORDSHIP: What date is that? 
Mr. LEE: June 14th; 1916. There 1s nothing between that and March of 

any moment. 
His LORDSHIP: In the first place Mr. Lash gives the assurance that Sir 

Thoma-, ,vhite asked for under date of Mareh 28th, and Mr. Haney the Vice­
President writes Mr. Crerar on April 3rd. 

Mr. LEE: Then Sir Thomas ,vhite writes a letter on June 19th to Mr. Haney, 
he note,- the progreb::i which has been made with respect to the accounts. After 
that, Sir Thomas seems to h:;tve gone to sleep. The nle probably got lost. He 
forgot it anyway. • 

The bank's condition was not brought to his attention any more, or if it 
was the.re is nothing on the files, nor is there any evidence that from June 19th, 
1916, for a period of over two years, during which period the evidence of Mr. 
Clarkson and Mr. Edwards shows that money of the depositors was being 
taken to pay dividends to the shareholders and the directors. That ends the 
chapter with Sir Thomas White up to 1918. 

,, 
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Then along comes one of the re:,,ponsible offirer:;:, ~Ir. Maehuffie, who had 
been appointed Assistant to the Vice-President, and who was also to make g 
thorough investigation with Mr. Haney of the affairs of the bank. In this 
interval Mr. Marhaffie has been ~upplemented lby Mr. Haney whom he calls 
the Dictator in one of his letters, has been removed from the :-ervice of the 
bank, as well as Mr. Kennedy, Mr. Adair and Mr. Hase. Xow there was a 
danger signal hanging out all the time during all this process going on in 
1916 and 1915. Then the light went out, the oil got short, but in 1918 along 
come, '5omeone to trim the lamp. Mr. Maehaffie, this responsible officer, writes 
to ~ir Thoma.:; White from Oakville on August 29, 1918. Of all the communi­
cations in this whole correspondence I am inclined to believe that this is one 
of the most important, the letter of a man who was trying, together with Mr. 
Crerar and these other gentlemen who had done noble work up to this time, to 
do his be:;t to save this institution. Notwithstanding his treatment by the Presi­
dent, whom he was brought from "\Vinnipeg to assist and give his counf,el to, 
and notwithstanding the fact that in giving that assi.:;tance~he had given the 
bef;t that. was in him, the long service in the Merchants Bank and the Bank of 
B.X.A. and this bank, but Mr. Raney, an untried man, an ordinary mun of 
busines.o, undertook to dismiss him, notwithstanding what he had promil':ed to 
do and what Mr. Lash had promised Sir Thomas White, that an inve,:tigation 
would be .made by Mr. J\!Iachaffie and Mr. Haney, but from the evidence it 
appears that no such investigation was ever made. Sir Thomas White seems 
to have lo:-;t all track of that correspondence, he does not seNn to have called 
for this investigation of J\Ir. 2.\Iachaffie and the Pre,-,ident, at any rate he never 
got it, nor tlid he even ask Mr. Machaffie whether it' was made. 

What is this communica·tion:-

" Oakville, Ont., August 29th, 1918. 

Dear Sir Thoma:;:-Referring to the report of James Fisher, KC., 
to you on February 1916, and to a conversation with the writer in Decem­
ber of that year; at that time there seemed some hope of selling a sub­
:-tantial portion of the British Columbia timber held in the A. C. Frost 
account, to a pulp company, this sale however did not materialize; this 
situation therefore is that the dividends for the xears ending May 1916 
and May 1917 were based on the addition of interest to doubtful 
accounts,-" 

If tliat statement of Mr. Machaffie's is true he was accusing the-,e Dirrrtor­
of doing bomething contrary to law, o_f taking our money and with that money 
paying shareholdr-rs' dividends that they were not entitled to receive. He gor::-
on;-

"-in rach year :;ome 30 per cent more than amount of dividend 
being added to the Frost acrount alone-dividend for year ended May 
1918 was based on the anticipation of a profit in a Briti;,:h Columbia ship­
building enterpri:,.c, in which the bank is to receive 25 per cent of the 
profit, the balance being diYidcd between M. J. Haney, Prf'~ident, C. A. 
Barnard a Director, and J. F. M. Stewart, a personal friend of Mr. 
Haney's. In this connection a considerable amount of the bank's fund,; 
is locked up. 

In view ,o.f the foregoing it c;eems evident that the actual cash dis­
bursed in dividends during the three years under review was furnished 
by the increase in depor,,its.-" · 

Now there is a definite statement of fact. If Sir Thomas White had any 
conception that it was coming from a re:opons1ible man who had been in the 
service of the bank and knew of what he spoke, any sane man, any man 

• 
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occupying the high position of Minister of Finance in this country, should have 
felt " If any of those statements are true I must immediately order a competent 
outside investigation." • 

He goes ,on to s·ay :-
" The total amount written up in the Frost account over the purchase 

p11ice of the timber, if added to the amount of capital s-tock carried by 
the bank, would account for the entire capital. 

Section 153 of the Bank Act is of course violated, Head Office officials 
unwilling to share the guilt are Qlbliged to get out;· since matters were 
reported to you the following gentleman have had to resign: 

Mr. Kennedy, Toronto Manager. 
Mr. Adair, Supervisor. 
Mr. Hase, Supervi':ior. 
Mr. Machaffie, Af-f-istant to President. 
The shareholders' auditor, who was the late Col. Mason's selection, 

is not, I am told, a Chartered Accountant, nor a trained banker; the 
position of important matters is concealed from the Board, and conse­
quently the public are denied that measure of protection contemplated 
by Parliament at Section 58 of the Bank Act. 

Transactions in which Mr. Haney and his friend have a personal 
interest were becoming rather frequent, and in some cases the outcome 
wat:l disastrous to the bank. 

This lack of dit:linterestedness on the p~rt of Mr. Haney, coupled 
with the fact that much important information is withheld from Mr. 
Lash, seems to justify the conc:lusion that the arrangement made by you 
with these two gentlemen does not afford the public an adequate measure 
of protection." 

WJrnt did Sir Thomas do on receiving that? He sent a copy of it to the 
Board. He acknowledged receipt of it in Exhibit No. 89, said it would have his 
attention. On September 4, 1918, he wrote a letter to Mr. Lash referring to this 
and said:-

" I regard the matter as of the utmost public importance, and it is 
my intention to have a thorough inve,;tigation made through the Bankers 
Association or otherwise." 

He has changed his mind since March 20, 1916, this is a new thing, a new 
charge. He dismissed the other charges as not worthy of getting an out-,ide 
inve;:;tigation upon, but '' this is a very seriom matter and I have got to do 
something and I am going.to have an investigation through the Bankers Associa­
tion." Let us :,ee what he did. 

Mr. Lash write::; him on September 6th, page 180, and says: 

Re Home Bank 
" MY DEAR Srn THOMAS: I .am in receipt of yours of the 4th enclos­

ing copy of a letter which you received from Mr. Machaffie. I have sent 
it to Mr. Haney and have asked him for an interview. I have to be out 
of the City till the middle of next week. On my return the matter will 
receive my immediate attention." . 

Then on September 12th he writes to Sir Thomas, Exhibit No. 92, and 
among other things he says:- • 

"I presume the matter can stand until his return," meaning Mr. 
Haney. 

"I told you that the profits of la'lt year were quite sufficient to pay 
the dividend without crediting upaid interest as profits." 
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In view of the evidence given here by both Mr. Clarkson and Mr. Edwards 
that statement was not true. 

" My la-,t interview with Mr. Haney, relating to Home Bank affairs, 
showed a decided improvement in the condition." 

I have no·doubt at all, and I tru,-t your lordship will not misundersbnd me 
a,- to t.hat, that Mr. Lash belicned it to be true. But could Sir Thomas, in view 
of t,hcse statements that were made, believe that he himself should not have been 
:=-omewhat sµspir·ious, having regard to the fact that he knew that they had been 
padding the-:c account:l, the Fro,:t and New Orleans accounts and others, and 
when he gets new faet," of this nature from a respon~ible officer should he not 
have said, "These danger signals are becoming too many, I will pull up the 
train,.? That should have been his position._ What did he do? He sent a copy 
of this to the bank's board. A month or so ~fterward,-it does not matter how 
much deposits might have been taken in the meantime, the ambulance is not 
c·alled, deposit,, are taken in for nearly six weeks,-but on the 29th October the 
Board bees fit to make a reply, and among other things what do they say? In 
politics sometimes it may be a good thing to abuse the other fellow, someone 
may believe it; so they proceed in the most expeditious manner to say: 

'' The Board feels that no good purpose would be served by entering 
into Mr. Machaffie's rea::-ons for interfering in this bank's affairs." 

Hri'l LORDSHIP: Will you tell me your views of an intervening letter. What 
about that letter of October 16, Exhibit No. 125? Evidently Mr. Lash wa~ 
endo:5ing a draft of the Board's statement asking Mr. Haney to look it over. 

Mr. LFE: It is the framing up of what the Board are going to tell t:iir 
Thomas \\, hite, I presume. 1 

Hrs LORDSHIP: \Vil! you read it over? 

"TORONTO, October 16, 1918. 
M. J. HA:"<EY, Esq., 

Care of The Home Bank, Toro~to. 

DEAR MR. HANEY,-Will you please con::;ider carefully the enrJo,-ed 
draft of the ~tatement of your Board of Directors in compliance with Sir 
Thomas White's request re Machaffie letter. I think you had better dis­
cuss it with the General Manager, rn as to make sure that the facts which 
are within his knowledge, and which appears in the books, are correctly 
stated. The information as to the New Orleans situation I received from 
Mr. Barnard when I was last in Montreal. I told him that a copy of the 
propo:::ed rE'ply of the Board would be sent to. him for consideration so 
that he might see that the faeb were correctly stated, and make any 

'suggE'::;tions whil'h occurred to him before the Board met." 

Now take that sentence, what doe,:; that mean? Does it not mean that it 
never was before the Board? 

Mr. LEE: It had not been before the Board at that time. 
Hrs LORDSHIP: Who prepared it? 
Mr. LEE: Mr. Lash. 
Hrs LORDSHIP: No, the report. 
Mr. LEE: The report I presume was al,:;o prepared by Mr. La,:;h. 
Hrs LORDSHIP: I just wanted your view about it. I find it difficult to 

explain. 
Mr. LEE: Aithough it wa-, sent by Mr. Haney the President I haYe not 

the slightest doubt it was prepared ·by Mr. Lash. He prepared a draft, he then 
,;ent a copy to Mr. Barnard because there were certain farts mentioned in 
reference 'to ~he New Orleans situation, then-
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" Will you pleaRe send a copy to Mr. Barnard. I leave it for you to 
decide about discussing it with other members of the Board before the 
meeting. Sir Thomas White is still in the West but he will likely be 
back in a week or so and as I will be away for ten days, from Saturday 
of this week, I would like to have the meeting of the Board called for 
sofne day not later than Friday of this week, that is. if you want me on 
hand at the time. 

I enclose three copies of the draft.'' 
Now the presumption is very strong that the man who prepared the draft, 
engrossed it after it had been revised by the members of the Board, that is the 
way I take it. 

His LORDSHIP: You see this draft is signed as being submitted by Mr. 
Haney himself. 

Mr. LEF: Yes, acting for the Board, that is the Board's statement to Sir 
Thomas in answer to Mr. Machaffie's charge . 

His LORDSHIP: I was trying to see if you could help me to a decision as to 
who it was that prepared that statement. 

Mr. REID: In the sixth line" The information as to the New Orleans situa­
tion I received from Mr. Barnard when I was last in Montreal. "That would 
look as though Mt. Lash had knowledge of what was in the report. 

His LORDSHIP: Well I do not think we can get much farther ahead. I read 
that two or three times. I thought you might have some definite view about it. 

Mr. LFE: Well I am very definite about this feature; the report was pre­
pared by Mr. Lash, drafted from information he received from General Mason 
and Mr. Haney. That draft copy was sent to Mr., Barnard be,·ause they wanted 
to see that the statementi'i in reference to the New Orleans situation were correct, 
because Barnard had the best information and was interested in that matter. It then goes before the Board and the Board itself amended this report. 

Hi8 LORDSHIP: You see it was not too late even at that time, the end of 
1918, to save a great los.,, at lea:;:t it is open to the argument that if Sir Thomas 
White had known the truth at that time he would have taken steps to see that 
the loss did not occur. X ow whoever prepared this report and sent it forward 
may bear rnme responsibility. I was just wondering if you could' put your 
hand on anything mor~ definite than what I saw there and what :\fr. Reid 
suggests as to that. 

Mr. LEE: I 1 do not think there is anything that ha., been given in evidence, 
I am trying to keep to the evidence and draw my deductions as fairly as I can, 
but there is no doubt in my mind that Mr. Lash prepared this report, that the 
draft report went before the Board, because at the top it says:-

" Mr. Haney submitted to the me'eting a report to the Minister of 
Finance, to be sent to the Minister on behalf of the Board, and this 
report after consideration and amendment was unanimously adopted by 
the Board in the form following, and the President was authorized and 
instructed to forward copy of this report to Mr. Lash, with instructions 
to have same forwarded to the Minister." 

That is, before the Board's report goes to the Minister, Mr. Lash has the 
report. So it seems to me that the man who prepared that report and the Board 
that amended it were the people who have the responsibility of sending this to 
the Mini::;ter; Mr. La$h and every member of that Board who was present at 
that meeting or who knew anything about it must take the responsibility. 

Now what do they say:- · 
"The Minister of Finance in his letter to Mr. Lash asks that the 

matter may be taken up with the Board of Directors and a report 
79220-4 
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prepared de,ding with the :,;ewral l'harµ<'s madr. Th<' Mini:-ter add,;, 
" It is my intention to Law a thorough invc,tigatiun made through the 
Bankers' A--;ol'idion or otherwise; bdore bking this c-h·p, however, I 
wish to have a reply from Mr. Hancy and his board." 

Then on page 183, as I was going on when we digre,-,1·1l :-

" The Board feel-; that nu good purpose would be srrvcd by entering 
into Mr. Machaffie's reasons fur interfering in this bank's affair,,_ The 
papers and corrt:-porn!ence with, and relating to Mr. 1Iachaffic, and to 
the claims whirh he made again.:<t the bank becau-c he ,us nut appointed 
-µ;cneral manager a::- he l·Xp<.'l't{ d t<> be, arr open ior the inspection of the 
ministfr, f'lhould he wish to sPe tl,em. They wiil probably afford the 
rea--on for Mr. ~Iachaffie's present action which the board think,.; i-; 
not impartial or ur·tuakrl by 1·un-;ideration for the public intem,b." 

·what I say is, whether they were actuated by the public intere-;t or any 
other interest, it became the bounden duty of t-\ir Thomas White, wherever he 
re1.:eived the informa.tion from, if that iniormation was foundecl upon fact it 
was his duty in conserving the a--sd-; of this bank and looking after the welfare 
of its depositors, when that danger signal wa:, thrown out to make a proper 
inquiry at that stage. Then he gors on:-

Sir 

" As the Minister of Finance seem~ to have placed more relianre 
upon Mr. Madrnffie',- lf't.trr and statements than the board thinks they 
are worthy of, itnd to remove the wrong impre,;~ion whit'.h that letkr has 
evidently .erPated, and on account of the import,,nce of the matter, the 
board feel that a reference to thr po:,.ition of the bank as directed and 
managPd two and a half years ago, and to its present position, is called 
for. 

"In the early part of 1916, certain repre~••ntations upon the position 
of the bank had been made to the l\Iini~ter of. Finance, and he expressed 
at that time the intention to have an investigation made through the 
Bankers' As.;;ociation or otherwise. 

"Mr. Harn·y, now presid<'nt of the bank, had joined the board of 
directors shortly before t.he1-<e represrntat.ions -ha<l bePn made. On his 
suggest:on the then board retained Mr. Z. ·A. L.:~h, K.C., as counsrl, and 
appointc1l the firm of Bbke, Lu .. "h, Anglin & Cassel::, a:=: roliritors. 

'· Owing to the di<:turbcrl l'Ondition of bw-ine:::-i and finance,; in Can­
ada two and a half years ago, the board was of opinion that any investi­
gution into the affairs of the bank by the Mini;;,trr of Finance, or by the 
Candian Banke-rs' As<:oriat.ron, would be misunderstood, would eam,e a 
run upon the bank, and would compel it to dose it~ doors, with all the 
injurious con:=:cqucnres which would remit therefrom, not only to the 
hank it-elf but to it-" customrr1-< and to the public· intere:--t,. Ti1e board 
did not then, and does not now fear the fullest investigation, but they 
do fear the consrquence to the bank, it~ customers and the public, whir.h 
would result, from an inve,;tig1tion ordered Ly the mini.:;tt•r through the 
Bankers' Association or otherwise. 

"The Board recognized two and a half years ago, :rnd umv neog-­
nizcs, the responsibility placPrl. upon the ::viinister of Finance, with respect 
to the Qanking sy~tem of Canada, and if, after full con,.;idc,mt.ion uncl 
hearing the rcprcsentat.ion~ of the bank, the minister should conrlude 
that, notwithstanding the consequences referred to, he is callrd upon in 
the public int•Test 3 to ordl'r an inn·,t.igation tlw hm,rd, would, of eour,-c-, 
submit and afford all as::-istance possible." 

Hmv nice it w:is of the board to say to Sir Jhml;.; White: "If you insist, 
Thomas, why of cour::ie we will give you all the assistance pos::;ible; but 
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at the ~ume time, please take our ~t11t.emcnt.-,, ab;;olut.f'ly unverified, not even by our in,-peetors "-becaU::<P no inspection had been made of the head office, so far a::; I have bPPn able to judge, since July, 1915, wlwn Adair had made his inspection-" pleu.:-oe take our statement; Macliaffie is a ma1; unw~rthy of confidPncc," BecausP that is what they mean although they don t say it. And then they go on to ~ay, at the k>p of page 184 :-
" The Minister of Finance said that, on· the rc·pre,;entations made to him, and in view of Mr. Haney's promise, he would not then order an investigation which might have the con-,cquenccs referred to arid he would rely upon Mr. Haney and Mr. Lash keeping him informed of any changes in the bank's position whirh would call for action on his part. That the minister has been justifiPrl in his po:aition, and that Mr. Haney's promises have been fully kPpt will be made appa.rent by the statement which follow:,;." 

Well, tlw "'tatement goes on and at page 185 they again refer to this man Machaffie and they ::;ay-and I am going to leave the statement.s contained in that letter to my colleague, 2\1r. Browning; he will deal with them in due course-
" The inf Prenrc to be drawn from Mr. Machaffie's statements with reference to dividends paiJ by the bank seems to be that these dividends were pa.id out of capital, and not out of profits." 

HIS LORDSHIP: I think that is a very plain inference. 
Mr. LEr:: I should have thought so. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: I don't think it would be an inference at all, ::;ir. Rather a direct statement. 
Mr. LEE: However that may be, they say: 

"Thi,: statement, or iaference, is unfounded. No dividends have been paid out of eapital; and the profits of the bank, actua1ly earned, have been amply l"ufficient to warrant the payment of the dividends which have been declared." 

That datement, in the light of the evidence which has 
0

been given here, was an absolutely untrue :;tatement. No dividends had brPn ·earned in 1916, or in 1917, if we believe the evidence. And there is a po,,,-,ibility, from what Mr. Adair said, that there was about the :oum of $8,000 earned in 1918, which might possibly have bren applied in payment of dividends. I am speaking now from memory. Mr. SYMINGTON: I think you are wrong in that. 
Mr. Lrn: Howeyer, let us take what they say: 

"For the same reason whieh made the Board feel that an investiga­tion into the affair,, of the Bunk by the Minf:-t.er of Finance or by the Canadian Banker:;' A::;l"ociation would be mi:-iundcr.-tood and would cause a run upon the Bank, the Board felt that great responsibility devolved upon them with reference to paymPnt or withholding of a dividt•nd upon the Capital Stock. 
After the most careful consideration, the conclusion was reached that it would be•greatly in the interest,':J of the Bank and enable the Board to carry out its drtermination to make the Bunk sucres~ful, if the dividend, which for years has been paid upon the Stock, were continued, p:FOvided that it could be continued lawfully and without breach of any of the provisions of the Bank Act. 
On each occasion when the declaration of a dividend was discussed, l'arcful consideration was given to the quc::;tion of the profits of the Bank, and, after being satil"fied that sufficient profit::; were on hand, the dividend was declared and paid.'·' 

79220-4½ 
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' 
And then they set out what the net profits were. When Sir Thomas received 

that statement of the net profits for 1917, and the dividend had been paid, as we 
have seen, in 1917, and in 1918 their allegation as to profits, which was published 
also to their own shareholders, and what they had paid out in dividends, suppos­
ing he had investigated that bank from an independent source, supposing that he 
had been doing that duty which I conceive to have been his duty at that parti­
cular time-if it had never been his duty during 1916, regarding the Fisher letter 
-as I conceive it to be his duty at this time, that danger signal had gone higher 
in the sky, he was more aware now after this charge was made, together with the 
statements that had been obtained from within, if ever a duty devolved upon a 
Finance Minister in this country, it did at this time, to investiga_te what was said 
in reference to these two years. He did not need to go into all the affairs of the 
bank, but had he found that a statement contained in these two years was 
incorrect, then he could have •had a full investigation of the affairs of the bank, 
and that would have led him, as a cautious man should have been led, to have 
said: "You have made misstatements to me; you have asked that an out­
side independent audit should not be made; I have acceded to that request; now 
further charges have been made against you as a Board; you have made further 
statements to me, Mr. Lash, and you the members, Mr. Haney and other gentle­
men, of this Board; I have not much further confidence in you; I am going out"­
as any 8ane rea:,;onable busine:os man would have done~"And I am bl'roming 
suspicious and I um going to see whether my suspicions are well founded or not." 
That is a position which I think a man of t},e great experience of Sir Thomas 
White should have taken; he should then have made an independent investiga­
tion of•his own. But instead of that he seems to have swallowed the hook and the 
line and the sinker; he seems to have got it caught in both gills; and instead of 
him dragging them down to Ottawa and putting them through the threshing 
mill they simply draw him up and make him accept their statemen~, as a 
reasonable man should not. Now they go orl and state: 

"Mr. Machaffie's statement that section 153 of the Bank Act has been, 
or is being violated, is untrue, and his insinuation that he and three other 
officials whom· he names, resigned from the service of the bank because 
they were unwilling to share the guilt, and others not named were "obliged 
to get out" or to resign because they were ' unwilling to share the guilt,' 
is untrue." 

Now there is a definite statement of fact. One alleges that the statement 
that these gentlemen had to get out beca1,1se they would not share the guilt is 
true. The other, the Board, alleges that it is untrue. Could he not, by a reason­
able effort upon his part Iwve made some investigation to find out, for instance 
first: whether Mr. Kennedy, an old servant of the bank, hud left for any such 
reason? That would not have required very much investigation. And if he 
found that Mr. Machaffie's statement was true, he po8sibly might have put more 
confidence in Mr. Machaffie. But Mr. Muchaffie goes further and make .. other 
charges. Mr. Machaffie says he is told that the shareholders' auditor is not a · 
chart~red accountant or a trained banker. In answer to my learned friend Mr. 
Lafleur-and I am now speaking from memory-I am under the impression that 
Mr. Machaffie i:mid that he had nothing to retract, although he had written 
that letter of retraction; that all these statements, in the light of further evidence, 
were practically true. 

Mr. McLAl:'GHLIN: He never retracted anything contained in ,that letter. 
It was another letter that was not sent. 

Mr. LEE: Well, this letter he did not retract. 
Mr. LAFLbUR: I~ was a letter that he had held. 
Mr'. SYMINGTON: There was no retraction of anything in thiR letter. 

J 
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Mr. LEE: Not of this letter. 
Now there is not a bit of evidence before you that the ,;tatement of 

Machaffie, made there, that the man who was the auditor of this bank wa:i not a 
chartered accountant, was not rorrert; and I fully believe that to be a fact, 
although it is not in evidence before you, that he was not a chartered accountant 
and never had been one. 

Mr. LAFLEUR: The'report of Mr. Haney implies the truth of the allegation, 
that he was not a chartered accountant. He explains what he was, and that he 
was as good as a chartered accountant. 

Mr. LEE: He says he is a gentleman. That is the first thing. 
Mr. LAFLEUR: And that he is the bursar of a College. 
Mr. LEE: And because he is the bursar of a College it is to be taken that 

he has. a knowledge of finance. 
Mr. SYMINGTON:, His main point was that he had been approved of by the 

Department. 
Mr. LEE: Well, it is the Department that I am going to find fault with. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: Going to? or have? 
Mr. McLAUGfILIN: Non-professional or lay services are never reliable. 
~fr. LEE: At page 186: 

"For the past seventeen years he has been, and still is, Bursar of 
Trinity College, and auditor for other institutions." 

I do not know that the position of Bursar of Trinity College would add very 
much to his qualifications as an auditor of a bank. A College has a large number 
of students, it is true, and the Bur:iar has to see that the student,; are well pro­
vided for, that they get good meals and that their fees are paid regularly. I don't 
know that tho::ie duties would fit him particularly, for being the auditor of a 
bank. But it is said that he has been auditor for other institutions. The institu­
tions are not specified. It might be that he had been the auditor for Kingston 
Penitentiary,. for all we can tell. That is an im,titution. 

"His name is included in the list of persons selected by the General 
Managers of banks under section 56 of the Bank Act." 

I would like to know the names of these bankers, of the Canadian Bankers' 
Ai;:rnriation, who select men who are not chartered accountants, to be the audit­
ors of banks. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: The Act wa'> changed in consequence of this very thing. 
Mr. LEE:I Quite so. I have forgotten for the moment that this gentleman 

was a particular friend of one df the Directors, Sir Henry Pellatt; and that 
Sir Henry Pellatt, if my memory- serves me rightly, was it bne time a Director 
of this Bank; and I presume when Sir Henry Pellatt's fulfilment of his con­
tracts with this bank wa'> called to his attention, that probably he resigned from 
the Directorship. Is not that right? Let us see. I will take the last Exhibit. I 
do not like to make a statement unless I am sure that it is right, but I was under 
the impre~sion that Sir Henry Pellatt had been a Director. 

::V.Ir. SYMINGTON: I do not think so. At least i::i is not shown in Mr. 
Edwards' report that he was a Director. 1 

Mr. LEE: I am still under the impre:;sion that he was. However, I will 
verify that. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: Mr. Edwards gives the originr,l Directors' names, and 
all the changes that have been made. 

Mr. LEE: I had forgotten that. I thought that Sir Henry had been on 
this Board for a period of two or three months, and subject to that, I will have 
it verified before the case is closed. But Mr. Haney goes on to say:-

" Deemed by them to be competent and eligible to be appointed 
auditor under the previsions of the Act, and he was not disapproved of 
by the Minister under the provisions of the Act." 
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By what ~Iini-,trr? By Sir Tliomr, White, it mu,-t Juve hel·n. Th:i.t yt•ar. 
I believe t!i:.J, th1 "l' b'lnrk ttuditor,- nt tL.t time Lul to be apµrovc,l l n·ry year, 
and if }- 11 \\ J-, not <li:--:tppr,,ved of by the ::\Iini,-trr, thrn he W,b appruvt J of by 
the l\Iinii=:ter, and therefore he wa-; pmiti1·ally an appointcl' of thi, I'im~rn.:e 
Dfp:1rtment, of whirl: the Honourahll,l Sir T>oma,; ,v1•'t.1• w~,:- then till\ n>p11n­
sible Mini,,ter; and th1•r,•fon\ lw "al" ,ubjeet to be n·mvved ly bt\ing hkrn off 
that list, r.nd if he had l,c,i•n takrn off tl,ut fo,t then tLey would pruh:1bly have 
got an auditor who wuuld have looked after thi;; bank'-, intrn -.t-; in a better 
way. ).;ow they may .•ay:-

" He wa-, du:y nppoinkd hy :1,e :--1H,rd10 1ders at the a1mual mPt-t­
ing." 

But he I nuld not luvc bPrn duly ttppointcd ttt a mrrt:ng of the ;shart>l,oldl·r, 
if he had not brPn on the li::,t approvhl by the .Finance Department. 

l\lr. SYMINGTON: Xot di:-approvcd of. The languagl· of the Act is quite 
clear. The Banker"' As-01·it1tion ;-ubmih a li,-t anrl unk;;s the ~Iini,.frr dis­
approve, of ii, it i-; adnpt!d. That v,-as ehangd in 1913. 

l\lr. McLA1-GHLIN: The law wa;:; ehanged, re4uiring the approval; but all 
the mPn who had been bank auditors bdore thd, were approved of. 

::\1.r. LEE: What I :·.m quarrvl1ing wit'.1 i~, tl1at if this ,tatt·m,.nt of 
Machaffil:', i-, truP, he wa>' bring cont'nuf'd ··rum 1913 on up to 1918, and during 
1918, although thi,.; i,- ealll'll to the n•,;pun-,ibk ~lini,-tn'., att.l·ntiun, up to tl1e 
t.ime at whid1 :-!ir Tl1oma;; ret--ip:ned from thic: po,ition, I don't >'Ce that he has 
been removed; I don't ~cc any :obtement in tlii-; evirlPrn·e hre tk,t :-:ir Tliomu,-, 
made any invc"tigatwn in refrrP111·r to the quali"tc·at;on,; of tlii,- m:m. 

Now I tru;;t that your !or, !,;Lip \Yill not think that I am ,aying that Lernu--e 
he v. a;: not a chartrn d acrounbnt, he wu,; nut qualified. I do not know that. 
I rnpposr there are many men who are not chartered accountant-, who are ju:it 
as guod accountants a:;; mPn who h:1,·c rel'1·iYl'd thPir ch~n P. I do not agrt:>1, 
with Mr. l\'Iuchaffie up to that point, tlu,t brrfaUc'C hl was not a chartered 
accountant, he \Ya" nut a competent man; but apparently there was ;;:ome reason 
in Mr. Machaffic's mind-he, a trained banker, and probal•ly one of the three 
trained kmkcrs in this in,,tituation at. that time, as he wa", pointing out to the 
:Minister that hi,; re,-pon,;ibility was greatly incre~1,;ed; he was pointing out the 
fact. Herc you have a Lanking in>'titution, and you have no trained banker,; 
bernu:;e, remember, Adair ha, gone; Kt·nrn:dy ha~ gune, Ha~e ha-, gon1•; l11J 
Lim.,elf ha,: gone; you h:1n rio t!'hinPd ma11 in tlwre to watch thi,; ;.;ituatiun. 
Now that wa,a a wry dangrrou-; :--ituati(m at that tim1. Thne had bl, n an open 
switch; the tr:jn was running fa --t into the op2n ,-,witeh. >'lir Ti10ma:", if he hud 
been wi,frhing elo:--dy over that train, and tho:-:e dangl·r ,;ignd.,, would Juve 
been advit-rd to have the audit whil'h he had bct•n thr,\at,•uing dnring 1916. 

Then they go on to l":ty:-
" Tl1e ,-ht, rnrnt by Mr. l\bchaffie, that the po,-it:on of imporLmt 

mdfrr..: i-; eum·1 alrd from the Board, i,; untrue." 

I clo not de:--ire to ,my anything before thi,.: Commi:;-ion whiC'h woulcl in 
any way hamper, or in any way injure, the fair and free trial of tlw gentkmc,.n 
who are now uncln inrlidmPnt; but if the ,:b tern mt of the Prr:-:idrnt of that 
institution is true, tlwn Machaffic't1 ,-.tat.lment mu--t have hcen untrue. Ii 
Maehaffie'-; f-btenwnt i,, true, t'.1cn the ,-t,: tement of foj,, Board is ali,-.olutely 
untrue>; b1 came they are tu tally eontrr.dictury. 

~ow it continues:-

" Madiaffie's ;;tat1,ment tLat the tran~ 1rtions in wltid1 Mr. Hanf'y 
and his friend:-: have a prr:-:onal inten·:-:t were beeoming rathl r frequent, 
and that in ,-.i)me ea.;;e,-. the outcoml' wa" di~a;-:trous to tbc bank, is untrue.'' 



• 

HOME BANK OF C'JNAD.4 683 

I cannot recollert at thi:,; moment ·what t!ie evidence upon that point i,.:. :'.\Iy 
imprei::f.ion of the evidence is that Mr. Haney at that time waR engap:ed in cer­
tain i::peculations with the bank'.;; money, lo[tned to one who afterward.,; became 
a Dirertor of this bank. There is no ·evident e before us anrl therefore I c·.rnnot 
dwell long upon that line, and I do not dr::;ire, :1-; I c;aid, to hamper in any way 
t lw trial of tl.( S(' g1·ntl('men. 

Now the depo~ih are given for 1916; the gold and le~al,t<'nd<'r, and al,o a 
distinction is made with the war 1918. It ,-f'f•m-, to me that if ~ir Thom:1,.; 
Whit(', the l'm::mce Mini;;ter, did not want to make a thorough inve::;tigation, as 
had been a:'ked for on a previou-; ur•ca,.:ion and as had been pointed out to him 
by \I··. MachaffiP, he l"uuld at lrast Lave mad<' an independent investigation to 
find out whether the statement contain(;d here in 1916 of the depo-;its of the gold 
and le!!:ul;;, and of the condition (If the liciuid ttf:fet,.: was correct and by that 
mean,: he wou:d have found out whether the statements in this statement were 
true. I' am guing to point uut \\ hat he did do. The report goes on to tell Sir 
Thoma:o whu "\Ir. Barnard wa:,;. I should have thought that by this time Sir 
T11omas would have known who Mr. Barnard wa,-,. I should have thought that 
he knew th:..t he wa.;; a man who had b1·c·n borrowing a large anwunt of money. 
from the b:mk. I fl.ould have thought that he knew that he was al,:o a Dire1·tor 
of the hunk. I ,:hould !:ave thought that he knew who the other members were; 
:'\Ir. Daly, :'.\ir. Gough anrl :'.\fr. O'Brien; and that Sen:itor }lfocdon('ll w:1-; 
re:-iigning; and that he per,.:onally knew Mr. Ca:::ey ·wood, having been brought 
up very do"e to him. Now I should hav~ thought, in all decency, man to man, 
even although the war was on, that when a man make,- chargei-1 against another, 
and that olher r('plics to them, that at lea:--t the pernon making tlie cl1argf''3 
sh,mld have got a copy of the reply. Was there any reply made to Machaffie 
by t,ir Thoma;;? No; except a very formal arknowledgement of his letter, con­
bine, ~ in a few line:-. I :-hould have thought that in all fairne,:s, which 
characterizes the ordinary busin(':>S affairs of life, that Sir Thomas might at 
lca;.-;t have directed the bank officials to send Machaffie a cupy of the statemen: 
whi1h they made :n refcren,·e to him. Be,·au"e hie charge,; were ::,erious; he 
made them, I believe in the intere:,:t of thr bank; he made ti.em, as he said in 
ms ,worn k,.;ti~ony, when he had $10,000 to lo,e in it; I ,-hould 
have thought that in all common decency Machaffie -.hould have bern 
rcqm:-•ted to ,;ay wl1C'th('r tl1e,;e Rtakment:,;, <.:ontained in thi~ report, were true 
or fal;:e. And in that "feature of it I say that Sir Thoma:,; White did not do his 
duty; he L~ recreant to the dut" which was imposed upon him. It is true there 
w:is no leg,d obligation on Lim to do it; it i:-- true that lw euuld exerci,e his own 
di"crction about the matter; but I .should have thoui;.llt that in all common 
< <mrtc, v he \\ ould have ~,·nt a -;1 akmcnt bect.u"e h::d lie 1:ient a statement 
MacLaffie ,vould have had tte right uf reply. Instead of that Machaffie does not 
know what ~hey were ,aying aLout him; t!wy mh~Lt lmve lied all over the lot 
about him; he knows nothing about it; Sir Thoma:-- do(',.: know, and he does not 
say anything ~ore. 

Then on Ortober 31 Sir Thomas writn to "'.\Ir. La'3h in these words. Exhibit 
97, page 187. 

"It is stded in the Board'1, report that no unpaid interest upon 
arcount N9. 3 or other inactive a1·<·uunt.;; ha,- b('en credited to profit-; ~ince 
l\foy 31, 1917. This would seem to imply that for many years intere;:;• 
has bec·n adderl to prin,·;pal of aernunt:- which were not capable of 
liquidation or reduction and that such added intem,• is thereiore no,v 
repre,.:ented as part of the Bank's capital or re,:;erve in it,-, public state­
ment,-. As the' note cireulation of the Ba11k is dt·pPnclent upon its paid­
up capita], and a,, the other Bank., of Canada are guarantors of tlri,:: 
cirrnh,tion, it app('ars to me to be a m,ttter of importnce both to this '-
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Department and to the Banks that the capital of the Bank ~hould repre­
sent substantial assets. If, as a matter of fact, the capital of the Bank is 
represented by intere:it amounting in the aggregate to a la,ge sum and 
added over a course of years to the principal of inactive accounts, a 
serious question arises as to whether the true position should not be 
declared and the capital and reserve of the bank written down accord­
ingly." 

Now my lord what does the letter mean? Must it not mean only one thing? 
Must it not mean that Sir Thomas White himself did not believe the truth of 
those assertions which were contained in Mr. Haney's statement of October 29th? 
Could it mean anything else? He points out in reference to the note circulation 
and he says a serious question arises r..s to whether the true position should not 
be declared. The true position of what? Surely it must have been the bank. 
Surely he had suspicions at that time that that statement that they were trying 
to put over him was untrue, or he would not have written any such kt.ter. I 
cannot get anything further out of that clause. Probably my learned friendc; 
when they are discussing it, may. 

it. 
Mr. SYMI~GTON: The first sentence in the third paragraph I think explains 

}\fr. LEE: The first sentence in the third paragraph is: 

" It is stated in the Board's report that ho unpaid interest upon 
account number 3 or other inactive atcounts has been credited to profits 
since May 31st, 1917." 

That is the clam:<'. I cannot see that that explains it. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: It implies that for many years it has been added to 

principal; therefore it should now be written off. 
Mr. LEE: It should now be written off, but it me>ans to say that they are 

not disclosing to him the true position of the bank at that time when they are 
sending him this statement on the other p:ige, showing the difference between 
1916 and 1918. At least that is the way I take it. 

Then apparently they forget the· whole thing again, because on the 23rd 
December, 1918, Mr. La:;h is in receipt of a letter from Sir Thomas, in the foilow­
ing wordR: Exhibit No. 99. 

"Some weeks ago, I wrote you asking for information from the Home 
B1.nk u;: to certain acl'ounts., I shall be glad if you will make enquiry 
and inform Ill!! wht·n I may expect a reply. There would f'CPm to be no 
good reason for the delay which is taking place in furnishing this 
information." • 

Then Mr. Lash writes him on Decembre 26th and says among other 
things:-

"! am in reC'eipt of yours of 23rd." 
then following down:-

"I confe:ls that the matter pas~ed out of my mind and I did not 
make enquirie:- about it." 

Then on December 27th, Exhibit No. 101, Sir Thomas writC'f' to Mr. La,;4 
and says:-

"Thanks for yours of the 26th instant. It would not appear to me 
that Mr. Haney's' absence should occasicn delay in furnishing me with 
the information de:oired which can be ca::;ily compiled by any official of 
the bank. Plea'-e inform the Board that I de-:ire the information requested 
by me tu be furni;;:hed at an early date." 
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They are still hanging back. What is the purpose? Could not Sir Thomas 
then consider what the purpose was? Then we come down to Exhibit No. 105 
and we get this letter written on the 25th January. During all this time 
apparently Sir Thomas has nbt got the information that he was asking for; but 
on the 25th. he gets this letter from Mr. Lash. It is at page 191 and refers to the 
Pellatt, Frost and New Orleans accounts, and includes' an analy:;is. Then he 
says:-

"N o interest charge to this account remains unpaid; on the contrary 
all interest has been paid and the principal has been reduced." 

I presume he is referring to the Pellatt account. Then he goes on, page 
1~:-. ' 

"Two members of the Board personally went to British Columbia 
and went through the limits and got information as to other sales." 

That statement, I have no hesitation in saying, in view of Mr. Crerar's 
evidence-and it is the only evidence we have here, becam,e Mr. Haney did not 
turn up to give his evidence-was absolutely untrue. I am not saying that Mr. 
Lash was making an untrue statement. Far from it. Far be it from me to say 
that. But these gentlemen did not got through the limits. What did they do? 
I think Mr. Crerar told us what they did. 

Mr. SYMINGTON: There is no question about it. 
Mr. LEE: They took a nice trip to Vanrouver. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: Are they the members referred to? And is that the trip 

referred to? 
Mr. LEE: I take it that that "'as the only investigation. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: That was two years before. 
Mr. LEE: I did not know that there was any question about it. Your 

lordship will have to take it subject to that, that I am referring to the fact that 
this was the trip made by Mr. Haney and Mr. Crerar to British Columbia. My 

1 friend Mr. Browning says to me, they only made the one trip. 
Mr. SYMINGTON: Tho1:ie two only made the one trip. There is no question 

about that; but they never went through the li'mit:5. 
· MR. LEE: Have we any evidence here that anybody else, members of the 

Board, went through the limits? 
Mn. SYMINGTON: No, we have not. 
Mn. LJ;;E: Then I am probably right in assuming that they are referring 

to Mr. Crerar and Mr. Haney. 
Mn. SYMINGTON: I do not know whether you can make that assumption. 0 

We have no evidence of it. 
Mn. LEE: I am going to assume ,it for the present. Mr. Crerar says he 

got Lacy's report, but Lacy was not a member of the Board. Then if that 
statement is true, Mr. Lash made a misstatement of fact to Sir T<homa~. And 
it could have been easily ascertained whether they had gone through the limits. 
Mr. Lash no doubt might have said in his own mind that they went through 
the iimits, because they had Lacy's report, and they had various cruiser's 
reports who had gone through tJhe limits. But that is not what he said. He 
said these two members of the Board personally went to British Columbia 
and went through the limits and t'hat they got information as to other sales. 

And then he goes on and 'he refers to the interest. He says that "the total 
interest up to 31st :November 1918 was charged to these accounts. A memo 
enclosed with the statements explains the reason for this." 

But had not Sir Thomas White already drawn their attention to the fact 
that they must not do that? Now here is another danger signal. These people 
in the face of Sir Thomas' statement not to do what he had told them not 
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to do, and which they had no legal right to <lo, bol,Uy s:1y, or Mr. Lash says: 
You wiL i-ee that the total interest up to 3L::t J\ovember 1918 was eharged 
to tl1l",e t:•"c,rnnts. And then he goc:-- on further (~own, on pnge 192: 

"I am irnitructcd that the Board of the bank is ronvinred that 
out,o:i<le of the liability of the PrudPntial Comp;.tny the secunties now 
he!d will realize for the bank the full amount of it:3 claim, leaving thl· 
liahility of the Prudent.i::tl t0 the gods." 

I am afraid, my lord, that t.ne mant-gement of this bank wu;; seriuu -ly 
pulling the wool over the eye" of their own Counsel, and in the honu,ty of 
purpo~e of Courn::el Mr. La-,h "as t>·:1n~mit,ting that to :-,ir ThomaF, and ::-\ir 
Thomm, was-I will not use tlhe word "gullible", thht would not be right, 
be,,"u,;e he wac: a man who was trained in b;.mking, in a b,,nking in--t,itution, 
and I do not think men who have the cxpl'rience of Sir Thomae, are gullible; ,, 
I do not know; I am trying to imagine wk~t influenee l\Ir. La,h's mind had 
over the mind of Sir Thomas White, that aft.er all tl1e,P ,:t:),tement~ are made 
to him, that a proper inve-;tigation as rcque~ted by Dirertorf', by offi("('rs of the 
bank, wfls not made at this time. ' 

Hrn Wom,HIP: Mr. Lt-e, I suppo::'e you h:we quite a little :::till to urge upon 
me? 

2\1:R. L1,E: Y c~, I han to go through :\Ir. Crerar's and ::\Ir. ::\Iachaffi's 
evdt>nee. 

Hrs LORDSHIP: Then you cannot fini,-h tonight. \Ye will adjuurn until 
ten o'clock tomorrow morning. 

Pru< ,'edingc; ~tand adjournrd at 4.40 p.m., Thursday, 15th May, 1924, until 
10 a.m., Friday, 16th May, 1924. 


